


Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 1

CONTENTS

Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 4

Chief Executive Officer’s Statement 5

Management Discussion and Analysis 7

Environmental, Social and Governance Report 10

Corporate Governance Report 45

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management 58

Directors’ Report 62

Independent Auditor’s Report 74

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 78

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 79

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 80

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 82

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 84

Financial Summary 144



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited2

CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew (Chief Executive Officer)
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg
Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping
Mr. Yap Sheng Feng

Non-Executive Director

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Chi Keung
Mr. Tan Poay Teik
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tan Poay Teik (Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Li Chi Keung
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Tan Poay Teik (Chairman of the Committee)
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong (Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Tan Poay Teik
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick

AUDITORS

Kreston John & Gan (appointed on 16 November 2023)
Chartered Accountants, Malaysia
Unit B-10-8, Megan Avenue II
Jalan Yap Kwan Seng
50450, Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia

Mazars CPA Limited (resigned on 2 October 2023)
Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong
42nd Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Mazars LLP (resigned on 2 October 2023)
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants, Singapore
135 Cecil Street
#10-01
Singapore 069536

REGISTERED OFFICE

Winward 3, Regatta Office Park
P O Box 1350
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL 
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN MALAYSIA

No. 2 Jalan Kasuarina 8
Bandar Botanic
41200 Klang
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN 
HONG KONG

Room 1910, 19/F
C C Wu Building
302-308 Hennessy Road
Wan Chai
Hong Kong



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 3

CORPORATE INFORMATION

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND 
TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Winward 3, Regatta Office Park
P O Box 1350
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE 
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Malayan Banking Berhad
Level 14, Menara Maybank
100 Jalan Tun Perak
50050 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia

STOCK CODE

1442

WEBSITE

www.infinity.com.my



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited4

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

DIGITALISATION

In 2023, we have continued to expand on our digitalisation journey and achieved remarkable results. Notably, we are proud 
to announce that we have developed and incorporated Robotic Process Automation (RPA), AI powered AutoCount software 
for our warehouse inventories, Warehouse Management Systems (WMS), and customized mobile applications for our daily 
operations. Our digitalisation journey has not only modernized our operations but has also yielded tangible benefits for 
Infinity and our customers. With digitalisation, we have greatly improved efficiency, reduced costs, and increased accuracy.

Infinity remains steadfast to head towards Logistics 4.0, where the entire supply chain is digitized, interconnected, and 
automated. We will continue to leverage on emerging technologies and innovations to create a more efficient, sustainable, 
and customer-centric supply chain ecosystem. Our move towards digitalisation is far from over, and we will continue to 
expand upon our digitalisation journey with higher investments and new developments in the coming years.

SUSTAINABILITY

In line with our commitment to innovation and sustainability, we have ventured into automation with our automated flexitank 
production lines. This strategic investment marks a significant milestone in our expansionary efforts, allowing us to 
capitalize on the emerging flexitank market while reinforcing our commitment to sustainability. With automation, we can 
guarantee the consistency of the quality, quantity and reliability of our flexitank products. We strongly advocate that 
flexitank is a more eco-friendly bulk liquid solution with the ability to facilitate reverse shipping, negligible cleaning 
requirements, and has much lesser carbon footprint compared to traditional alternatives.

Furthermore, we remain steadfast in our support of national agendas aimed at promoting sustainability in the logistics 
industry. We are strongly promoting the Modal Shift from road to rail for the transportation of cargoes. We recognize the 
Modal Shift’s potential to reduce reliance on trucks, alleviate congestion, enhance safety and increase efficiency. To this 
end, we are committed to developing intermodal terminals along the KTM railway track from North to South of Peninsula 
Malaysia with plans for future expansion at strategic locations along the ECRL railway track from East to West of Peninsula 
Malaysia.

OPTIMISTIC ON THE FUTURE OF LOGISTICS

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the future of logistics in Malaysia and our role in shaping it. We are dedicated to 
promoting sustainability in all aspects of our business and are steadfast in our pursuit of carbon neutrality. With your 
continued support, we are confident in our ability to drive positive change and deliver value to all stakeholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Group has consistently demonstrated its leadership in championing transformation and growth. I take this opportunity 
to acknowledge the valuable contributions of the Board members and express my sincere gratitude to our many partners, 
our business associates, distributors and employees that have positively contribute in our journey, leading the Group to 
where it is today and where it aspires to be in the future.

Thank you for your trust and partnership.

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong
Chairman of the Board

25 March 2024
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT

A RECOLLECTION OF YEAR 2023

I, on behalf of the board of directors and subsidiaries of the Group, am proud to present our annual report for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. The year 2023 marks the 20th Anniversary of the founding of the company that started off as a 
micro company to the Group that it is today. The milestones that we have achieved would not be possible without the trust 
and support of all our stakeholders over the years. For the next decade, we will pace the growth of the organisation based 
on 3 core principles, People, Digitalisation and Sustainability.

Year 2023 was marked by significant geopolitical uncertainty and disruptions along the sea routes, coupled with the 
looming possibility of trade wars. Despite the global landscape uncertainties, we approached each obstacle as an 
opportunity for growth and innovation with carefully paced decisions. At Infinity, we firmly believe that uncertainties can be 
transformed into opportunities. We remain cautiously optimistic and steadfast in our commitment to strategic planning.

FINANCIAL PERFOMANCE 2023

The company achieved a revenue of approximately RM371,105,000 (FY2022: approximately RM356,870,000), representing 
an increase of approximately 4.0% over the same period last year. The gross profit was approximately RM68,941,000 
(FY2022: approximately RM76,636,000), representing a decrease of approximately 10.0%. The gross profit margin of the 
Group is approximately 18.6% for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group recorded a net profit of approximately 
RM18,379,000 (FY2022: approximately RM35,882,000). Three business units observed an increase in revenue due to 
higher demand, with the highest achieved by the flexitank segment with an increase of approximately 22.0%. This was 
followed by the Logistics Centre segment with an increase of approximately 16.4%, mainly due to the improved demand in 
depot services. The Land Transportation segment observed an increase of approximately 12.6% due to the higher demand 
in landbridge and landfeeder services. The Integrated Freight Forwarding segment observed a decrease of approximately 
17.0% due to the reduction of shipment for NVOCC services. The 4PL segment recorded a decrease of approximately 
36.0% due to the decline, which can be attributed to a reduction in the handling of customer shipments within this services 
category.

LANDSCAPE OF LOGISTICS

The recently announced alliance between Maersk and Hapag-Lloyd, along with the dissolution of the 2M Alliance between 
MSC and Maersk, signifies a major shift in the industry. This realignment will have a profound impact on the Malaysian 
logistics industry, particularly given the country’s strategic position as a primary hub for shipping lines and the significance 
of the Straits of Malacca for global trade. The creation of the Johor-Singapore Special Economic Zone will have a profound 
impact on the logistics sector with the incentives for more investments and trades between the countries.

At Infinity, we are well-positioned to leverage these changes to our advantage. With operations at Port Klang, Penang Port 
and Pelabuhan Tanjung Pelepas in Johor, we are poised to capitalize on the shifting dynamics of the industry.

The Malaysian Government is presently actively promoting the Modal Shift from road to rail for the transportation of 
cargoes as a step towards the rationalisation of the diesel subsidy and resolving the issue of overloaded trucks on the 
road. The upcoming ECRL track will indeed be a game changer that will positively impact the entire logistics industry within 
the country. Infinity welcomes these initiatives by the Government and we are ready to play our part in the Modal Shift with 
more rail centric business ventures.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT

PEOPLE, DIGITALISATION & SUSTAINABILITY

At Infinity, we understand that it is a people’s business. We have embarked on Human Resources empowerment and 
transformation process to empower our people. We aim to become a diamond shape organisation through the development 
of our talents, upskilling and digitalisation. Our commitment is that digitalisation will not diminish the importance of people 
but to amplify it. This is our effort to transform the organisation into a knowledge based and digitalised organisation with 
the focus on the efficiency and growth of our people.

We have made significant investments in digital technologies, streamlining our processes, and enhancing our capabilities 
across the organisation. From implementing AI powered Robotic Process Automation to leveraging on Computer Vision for 
warehouse inventory checks, our digitalisation efforts have empowered us to be highly efficient, effective and competitive. 
Moreover, digitalisation has facilitated many collaborations and future projects with our partners, stakeholders and Institutes 
of Higher Learning.

We recognize the importance to operate in an environmentally responsible manner, minimizing our carbon footprints and 
contributing to the transition towards a more sustainable future. We are actively working towards reducing our carbon 
emissions, optimizing energy consumption, and promoting sustainable logistics solutions. We have invested heavily in the 
solar panels on our warehouses, energy efficient prime movers, electric MHEs and development of Intermodal Terminals 
for rail transportation as a part of our effort towards carbon neutrality.

As we continue to grow our talents and harness power of technology, we will remain steadfast in our pursuit of 
sustainability and create shared value for all stakeholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, I wish to thank all our shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and financiers for their 
strong support, trust and confidence in us throughout the years. At the same time, I wish to express appreciation to my 
fellow members of the Board, for their counsel and guidance provided over the years. Last but not least, I wish to extend 
my sincere thanks and appreciation to the Management and staff for their dedication, professionalism and diligent efforts 
during the year under review.

Thank you.

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew
Chief Executive Officer

25 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Group is pleased to report the results for the year ended 31 December 2023. During the year ended 31 December 
2023, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RM371,105,000 (2022: approximately RM356,870,000), representing 
an increase of approximately 4.0% over the same period last year. The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately 
RM68,941,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately RM76,636,000), representing a decrease of 
approximately 10.0% over the same period last year. The gross profit margin of the Group decreased from approximately 
21.5% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 18.6% for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group 
recorded a net profit of approximately RM18,379,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately 
RM35,882,000).

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group generated revenue from the provision of (i) integrated freight forwarding services; (ii) logistics centre and related 
services; (iii) land transportation services; (iv) flexitank solution and related services; and (v) 4PL services. The sustained 
performance of the Group is attributable to strategic portfolios of integrated logistics services offered to varied customers 
and industries across Malaysia and neighbouring countries.

Revenue from logistics centre and related services increased by approximately 16.4% to approximately RM82,409,000 for 
the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to higher demand for depot services. As a result, the gross profit 
contribution from this segment increased by approximately 24.7% to approximately RM19,286,000 for the year ended 31 
December 2023, which is generally in line with the revenue growth.

Revenue from land transportation services increased by approximately 12.6% to approximately RM70,869,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to an increase in demand from our landbridge and landfeeder services. However, 
the gross profit contribution from this segment experienced a significant decline of approximately 67.1% to approximately 
RM2,160,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in gross profit is attributable to an increase in 
depreciation expenses and staff costs.

Revenue from integrated freight forwarding services decreased by approximately 17.0% to approximately RM90,492,000 for 
the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly attributable to a reduction in revenue generated from non-vessel operating 
common carrier (“NVOCC”) services caused by a slowdown in global trade and increased competition leading to a drop in 
the volume of shipments. However, the gross profit contribution from this segment increased by approximately 20.5% to 
approximately RM20,286,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, as the Group managed to improve its customer profit 
margin to offset the decline in revenue.

Revenue from flexitank solution and related services increased by approximately 22.0% to approximately RM114,300,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2023. However, the gross profit contribution from this segment witnessed a decrease by 
approximately 12.9% to approximately RM20,721,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decline can be 
attributable to various factors, including a rise in staff costs and higher operational expenses resulting from increased 
material storage costs.

Revenue from 4PL services experienced a significant decrease of approximately 36.0% to approximately RM13,035,000 for 
the year ended 31 December 2023. The decline can be attributable to a reduction in the handling of customer shipments 
within this services category. Accordingly, the gross profit contribution from this segment also underwent a substantial 
reduction of approximately 53.6% to approximately RM6,488,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, aligning with the 
downward trend observed in the segment’s overall revenue.



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited8

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s operational costs totalled approximately RM302,164,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing 
an increase of approximately RM21,930,000 or 7.8% as compared to the last year. The Group’s other income amounted to 
approximately RM536,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately RM2,937,000 
or 84.6% as compared to the last year. Such a decrease is mainly attributable to a net gain on the disposal of warehouse 
and a higher gain on lease modification recorded last year.

COMPANY PROSPECT

In line with our commitment in our core principles, in the coming year we will see the Group’s move towards a more 
comprehensive approach towards the adoption and application of the following: -

• PEOPLE – Empowerment and upskilling the workforce of the organisation with digitalisation towards a diamond 
shape organisation.

• DIGITALISATION – Investment in digitalisation, automation and embracing new technologies in our daily operations 
for increased efficiency, effectiveness and improve overall customer experience.

• SUSTAINABILITY – Embracing sustainable practices in our daily operations including investments in solar 
technology, electrical material handling equipment and proactive steps to reduce carbon emission.

The coming year will be an important year for the Group to show its commitment to achieve its goals and aspirations, 
including taking on new challenges to grow and expand the business whilst enhancing its core principles.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group held bank balances and cash of approximately RM50,769,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately 
RM39,572,000). The Group leases various properties, lands, containers, and motor vehicles with lease liabilities of 
approximately RM89,223,000 (2022: approximately RM105,637,000) with rental contracts typically made for fixed periods of 
two to thirty years (2022: two to thirty-two years). The Group had interest-bearing borrowings from various banks of 
approximately RM128,086,000 (2022: approximately RM83,120,000) which are repayable ranging from within one year to 
over eight years (2022: within one year to over five years) since inception. Also, the Group had other bank overdrafts of 
approximately RM14,308,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately RM14,776,000). At 31 December 2023, the 
weighted average effective interest rate on interest-bearing borrowings was approximately 5.05% (2022: approximately 
3.66%) per annum. The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were denominated in Ringgit Malaysia. The Group’s gearing 
ratio at 31 December 2023, calculated based on the total borrowings to the equity attributable to owners of the Company, 
was approximately 0.69 (2022: approximately 0.66). The Directors believe that the Group’s cash position, liquid asset 
value, future revenue and available banking facilities will be sufficient to fulfill the working capital requirements of the 
Group. There has been no material change in the capital structure of the Company during the year ended 31 December 
2023. The capital of the Company comprises the shares and other reserves.

Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial and surplus funds management approach towards its treasury policies and thus 
maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group strives to reduce exposure 
to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage 
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that sufficient financial resources are 
available to meet its funding requirements and commitment timely.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hedging and exchange rate exposure

The majority of the transactions, assets and liabilities of the Group was denominated in RM, United States Dollars and 
Hong Kong Dollars. During the year ended 31 December 2023, no financial instruments were used for hedging purposes, 
and the Group did not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its exposure to exchange rate risk, as the expected 
exchange rate risk is not significant. The Directors and senior management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange 
exposure and will consider applicable derivatives when necessary. The Group did not have any derivatives for hedging 
against the foreign exchange rate risk at 31 December 2023.

Capital expenditure

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total capital expenditure amounted to approximately RM16,326,000 
(2022: approximately RM165,151,000).

Charge on group assets

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s leasehold lands and buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately 
RM109,911,000 (2022: approximately RM113,089,000) were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group.

Contingent liabilities

At 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

Material acquisitions or disposals

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 December 2023, the Group did not have any material 
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Significant events after the reporting date

There are no significant events affecting the Group which have occurred after the end of the reporting period and up to the 
date of this annual report.

Employees

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 908 employees (2022: 657) in Malaysia. Staff costs (including directors’ 
emoluments) for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately RM54,668,000 (2022: approximately 
RM48,147,000). The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees are competitive and according to market trends 
and its employees are rewarded on a performance related basis and within the general framework of the Group’s salary 
and bonus system.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries hereinafter referred to as 
the “Group” or “We” or “Us” or “Infinity”) is pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report 
for year ended 31 December 2023 (the “ESG Report”) to provide an overview of the Group’s management of significant 
issues affecting the operation, including environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) matters.

The Group puts the sustainable development of its business as the top priority of its long-term development goals, and 
incorporate climate-related issues and environmental, social and governance elements into its long-term business strategic 
planning. As the most important leading role of the Group, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has the 
sole responsibility to oversee, manage and monitor the Group’s environmental, social and governance issues and progress 
directly.

The Group has set short-term and long-term sustainable development vision and goals to achieve ongoing emission 
reduction according to governmental requirements. Relevant emission reduction targets and corresponding strategies are 
established and sustainable development factors have been incorporated into the Group’s strategic planning, business 
model and other decision-making processes. The Board regularly monitors and reviews the effectiveness of management 
approach, including reviewing the Group’s environmental, social and governance performance and adjusting corresponding 
action plans.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating 
and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and 
internal control systems are in place. Looking ahead, the Board will continue to review and monitor the environmental, 
social and corporate governance performance of the Group and provide material, reliable, consistent and comparable 
environmental, social and corporate governance information to its stakeholders for making contributions to create a better 
environment.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report illustrates the Group’s initiative and performance regarding the environmental and social aspects during 
the reporting period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Effective implementation of environmental, social and governance policies relies on the collaboration of different 
departments. In order to endeavour to achieve the objective of sustainability development, the Group has established the 
ESG Working Committee so as to coordinate different departments and enhance their mutual co-operations for ensuring 
consistent work performance which could be aligned with the stakeholders’ expectations. The ESG Working Committee, 
which is responsible for reporting to the Board regularly, comprises core members including Chairman of the Board and 
heads of operation units and supporting units who are responsible for organizing, promoting, and implementing various 
ESG related tasks under the Group’s ESG management policies and strategies. Other members of the ESG Working 
Committee are identified and determined based on their existing skill sets and job responsibilities, covering areas such as 
Process and Quality Management, Legal, Audit, Finance, Engineering and Health and Safety. All tasks will be reported to 
the ESG Working Committee regularly. The Group adopts a risk management system under a top-down risk management 
structure. The ESG risks were identified, assessed and measures were formulated through discussions among ESG 
Working Committee and respective risk owners. The Board is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the 
effectiveness of the Group’s ESG risk management and internal control systems, and for ensuring that the Group has taken 
reasonable measures to manage significant risks. The Group believes that ESG risks have gradually becoming an 
important factor in its business, and has taken the approach to incorporate ESG risks into its routine risk management 
process as a means of enhancing its overall risk evaluation, prioritizing, management and control capabilities. Under the 
leadership of the Board, the ESG Working Committee also conducted a materiality assessment to understand the concerns 
and requirements of various stakeholders so as to determine the Group’s ESG management approaches, strategies, 
priorities and goals.

The Board

ESG Working
Committee

Operation Units Support Units

The Board’s discussions on ESG matters are held on a semi-annual basis and the commitments are reflected based on the 
direction of the company moving forward with the focus on People, Digitalisation and Sustainability. The Board understands 
that the establishment of ESG targets aids in the Group’s ESG governance, and therefore, the Board sets ESG targets 
related to the Group’s business where appropriate. The Board annually reviews the ESG reporting in a holistic manner to 
ensure existing goals and targets are in line with the vision of the Group, which are vital and closely related to the core 
business of the Group. The Board reviewed its goals against the vision and aligned short-term goals which deemed 
necessary. Establishing a systematic approach to manage the goals and objectives is key to a attaining the vision of the 
Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG Report covers the major subsidiaries of the Group in Malaysia, namely Infinity Logistics & Transport Sdn. Bhd. 
and Infinity Bulk Logistics Sdn. Bhd., with core business principally engaged in the provision of integrated freight forwarding 
services, logistics centre and related services, land transportation services, flexitank solution and related services, and 
fourth-party logistics (“4PL”) services, which accounted for 93.3% of the total revenue of the Group. The Group will 
continue in assessing the impacts of its business on the major ESG aspects and to include in the ESG Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The ESG Report is prepared with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide set out by Appendix C2 (formerly known as 
Appendix 27) of the Listing Rules. The Group has complied with the mandatory disclosure requirements and the “comply or 
explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide. Certain key performance indicators (“KPIs”) which are considered 
as material by the Group during the Reporting Period are disclosed in the ESG Report. The Group will continue to optimize 
and improve the disclosure of KPIs. The ESG Report is prepared and published in both English and Chinese. In the event 
of contradiction or inconsistency, the English version shall prevail.

During its preparation, the Group adheres to the reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency 
by:

• Identifying material issues 
through stakeholder 
engagement and making key 
disclosures about 
these issues.

• Presenting information in a 
quantitative way, where 
feasible.

• Reporting information in an 
objective and unbiased manner 
to ensures it re�ects both the 
achievements and the 
challenges faced by the Group.

• Using consistent measurement 
methods to enable meaningful 
comparisons of the Group’s 
ESG performance. Any change 
will be clearly stated in the 
report.

Materiality Quantitative

ConsistencyBalance

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on the ESG Report for our sustainability initiatives. Please contact us through our 
Company website www.infinity.com.my.

APPROVAL OF REPORT

The ESG Report was approved by the Board on 25 March 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We identified the key stakeholders of our business operations and then interacted with our stakeholders regularly through 
various communication channels. The following table illustrates the issues of concern of our major stakeholders and the 
ways we communicate with them:

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures

Government – Abide by laws and 
regulation

– Fulfil duty to pay tax
– Promote regional economic 

development and 
employment

– On-site inspections and 
checks

– Company Website

– Operated, managed and paid 
taxes according to laws and 
regulations

– Strengthened safety 
management

– Accepted the government’s 
supervision, inspection and 
evaluation

Shareholders and 
Investors

– Provide high transparency  
for information disclosure

– Protect shareholders’ rights 
and interests

– Annual general meeting and 
other shareholders meetings

– Annual report, interim report 
and announcements/
publications

– Issued notices of general 
meeting and proposed 
resolutions according to 
regulations

– Disclosed Company’s 
information by publishing 
annual reports, interim 
reports and announcements/
publications

– Disclosed corporate contact 
details on website and in 
reports and ensured all 
communication channels are 
available and effective

Employees – Education and training
– Career Development 

Opportunities
– Health and safety working 

environment
– Safeguard the rights and 

interests of employees

– Employee communication
– Training, seminars and 

briefing sessions
– Cultural and sport activities
– Intranet and emails

– Provided a healthy and safe 
working conditions and 
environment

– Provided training to 
employees

– Provided employment and 
promotion practices that do 
not discriminate on grounds 
of gender, disability, 
pregnancy, family status, 
race, colour, religion, age or 
other conditions recognized 
in law
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures

Customers – Provide safe, high-quality 
products and services

– Stable relationship
– Business ethics

– Website, brochures and 
annual report

– Email and customer service 
hotline

– Complaint handling 
mechanism

– Regular meetings

– Provided quality and 
customized products and 
services

Suppliers/Partners – Honest cooperation
– Long-term partnership
– Information resources  

sharing

– Suppliers’ review and 
assessment

– Regular meetings

– Performed contracts 
according to agreements

– Enhanced daily 
communication, and 
established long-term 
cooperation with quality 
suppliers and contractors

Public and  
communities

– Discharge social 
responsibilities

– Community involvement

– Volunteering
– Charity and social  

investment
– Annual report

– Carried out charitable 
activities

– Provided volunteer service, 
kept communication channels 
open between the Company 
and the communities

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

With a growing population, challenges such as climate change, energy supply and security, raw material scarcity, human 
health and safety, and employment are to be addressed to ensure that people can lead healthy and fulfilling lives. Faced 
with a wide range of issues, the Group is keen to identify those that have a great impact on its stakeholders and business, 
and then to develop its strategic priorities.

The Group adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are 
important to the business of the Group. In the Reporting Period, the Company undertook its annual materiality assessment 
exercise. The objective of materiality assessment is to identify ESG topics that are material and relevant to the Group’s 
operation. This involved distributing questionnaires to internal and external stakeholders to identify the most significant 
environmental and social impacts on its business. To identify potential material topics for disclosure in the ESG Report, we 
took reference to the ESG Reporting Guide and set possible topics for assessment.
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According to the results of the materiality assessment, the Materiality Matrix below demonstrates the ESG topics with 
different materiality to the Group, including:

Emissions

Use of Resources

Environment and
Natural Resources

Climate Change

Employment

Health and Safety

Development

Labour Standards

Supply Chain Management

Product Responsibility

Anti-corruption

Community Investment

Materiality Matrix during the year

High

High

Low

IM
PA

C
T 

O
N

 S
TA

K
EH

O
LD

ER
S

IMPACT ON THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Aspect A1: Emissions

Due to the nature of our business, our Group’s operations do not directly generate industrial pollutants, and as such 
our Group did not incur significant direct costs of compliance with applicable environmental protection rules and 
regulations in past years. The Board expects our Group will not directly incur significant costs for compliance with 
applicable environmental protection rules and regulations in the future.

Our emissions in our operations are subject to Malaysian law that are governed by the Environmental Quality Act 
1974, through which a series of rules and regulations are overseen by the Malaysian Ministry of Energy, Science, 
Technology, Environment & Climate Change. We continuously observe relevant laws and regulations in relation to 
environmental protection in the Malaysia and have been in strict compliance with them. The Group actively promotes 
green logistics and environmentally friendly policies in its efforts to support the better living of our communities and 
the development of a sustainable logistics system. These policies including environment policy, control of waste, 
control of chemicals and control of water, etc.

The Group is committed to reducing its impact on the environmental and its carbon footprint whilst pursuing our 
quest to deliver optimal logistics services to our customers. Consumption of fuel and energy has been a significant 
contributor to greenhouse gases as well as other environmental concerns. To minimize our carbon footprint through 
reduction of our carbon emissions for Scope 1 and Scope 2, we have set the following goals and measures to 
reduce resource consumption and waste generation:
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Goals:

– The Group advocates emission reduction, and is committed to achieving sustainable operations and 
compliance with emission requirements permitted by the local authorities. To this end, we have reviewed and 
reset the preliminary directional targets in terms of reducing emissions (including air pollutants, greenhouse 
gas, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes). The Group will actively implement below air pollutants control, 
energy-saving and material-saving measure to maintain or reduce the intensity of air pollutants emissions, 
the intensity of greenhouse gas emissions, and the intensity of waste production on the baseline year of 
2021.

Measures:

Reduction of emission and enhancement of energy efficiency

– Convert in phases, all the Diesel Material Handling Equipment (“MHE”) into Electrical MHE;

– Build green warehouses with energy efficiency compliant to Green Real Estate (“GreenRE”)1;

– Acquisition and gradual replacement of energy efficient equipment such as notebooks, electrical appliances;

– Develop and implement prime mover replacement policy.

Renewable energy generation

– Installing solar power panels on our building’s rooftop;

Carbon sequestration

– Working with bodies such as Persatuan Pendidikan Dan Kebajikan Jaringan Nelayan Pantai Malaysia 
(“JARING”) and Forest Research Institute Malaysia (“FRIM”) via reforestation and planting trees;

Bulkhead recovery system

– Reduce usage of new bulkhead;

– Reuse refurbished bulkhead system;

– Recycle old bulkheads for other application;

Control of waste and recycling procedure

– Sell the excess plastic pellets, carton box, cardboard to recycling center for recycling purpose;

– Defining the process of effectively managed different wastes generated in operation processes of the 
organization, hence to prevent contamination and pollution;

Note 1:

GreenRE was set up by Real Estate and Housing Developers’ Association Malaysia (“REHDA”) in 2013 to drive sustainability in 
Malaysia’s real estate industry. GreenRE’s standards and certification process are in line with UN’s Sustainable Development Goals 
(“SDG”s) and World Green Building Council’s commitment towards achieving a net zero future.



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 17

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Regarding waste, our hazardous waste produced was mainly consisted of certain chemical waste amounting to 
approximately 1.23 tons in the Reporting Period (2022: 2.35 tons). Non-hazardous waste mainly includes domestic 
waste amounting to approximately 123.23 tons in the Reporting Period (2022: 72.82 tons). They are separately 
stored and handled with ledger for record. In order to properly control the disposal of our production wastes, we 
formulated detailed environmental protection rules and guidance for our staff to follow during operation. The 
hazardous wastes are handled by trained employees only in accordance with the relevant requirements such as 
segregation of waste basing on the Chemical Hazard Class Code, packaging, labeling and etc, which complies with 
the Environmental Quality (Scheduled wastes) Regulation 2005. The wastes are collected and subsequently 
disposed in the scheduled waste facility licensed by the Department of Environment, Malaysia. The hazardous and 
non-hazardous waste are monitored and recorded on monthly basis for waste volume tracking purpose. The Group 
expects to extend the concept of sustainable development to daily life to attain the sustainable target.

Thus, in light of the above mentioned, we believe that our operation does not generate hazards that have any 
significant adverse impact on the environment and our environmental protection measures are adequate to comply 
with all applicable current regulations in Malaysia.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and 
regulations related to environmental protection that have a significant impact to the Group.

Major air pollutants emissions from vehicles during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are 
as follows:

Air Pollutant Emission
Air Pollutant Emission

Type of Air Pollutants (tons)
2023 2022

Sulphur Dioxide 0.05 0.05
Intensity (kg/Revenue RM’000) 0.00014 0.00015
Nitrogen Oxide 41.37 43.84
Intensity (kg/Revenue RM’000) 0.11170 0.12285
Suspended Particle 2.99 3.18
Intensity (kg/Revenue RM’000) 0.00808 0.00892   

Note:

1. The Group has reviewed the calculation of Air Pollutant Emissions in 2022 and restated the relevant data accordingly.

During the Reporting Period and corresponding period in 2022, the greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission from the 
operation is set out below:

GHG Emission

Type of GHG Emissions
Equivalent CO2 emission

(tons)
2023 2022

Scope 1 Direct Emissions 8,324.69 8,742.76
Scope 2 Indirect Emissions 875.67 769.67
Total 9,200.36 9,512.43
Intensity (tons/Revenue RM’000) 0.02 0.03   
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Note:

1. The calculation of the GHG gas is based on the Greenhouse Gas Protocol jointly developed by World Resources Institute 
and World Business Council for Sustainable Development, and the ISO14064-1 formulated by the International 
Standardization Organization.

2. Scope 1: Direct emissions are mainly from vehicles that are owned by the Group.

3. Scope 2: Indirect emissions are mainly from the generation of purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

4. The Group has reviewed the calculation of GHG Emissions in 2022 and restated the relevant data accordingly.

During the Reporting Period and corresponding period in 2022, the hazardous and non-hazardous waste produced 
from the operation are set out below:

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste
(tons) (tons)

2023 2022

Hazardous waste 1.23 2.35
Non-hazardous waste 123.23 72.82
Total 124.46 75.17
Intensity (tons/Revenue RM’000) 0.0003 0.0002   

Note:

1. The generation of hazardous waste has significantly decreased compared to the corresponding period in 2022, primarily 
due to the following reasons: i) with the lifting of pandemic control measures, Schedule Waste (SW) 404 (clinical waste) 
such as rapid test kits used in virus testing process ceased to be generated during the Reporting Period; ii) SW 321 
(rubber/latex waste) was ceased to be generated in 2023 due to infinity was no longer helping the customer on the 
disposed of flexitank, while previously we were helping customer to dispose flexitank after discharge of cargo in the 
corresponding period in 2022..

2. The generation of non-hazardous waste has significantly increased compared to the corresponding period in 2022, primarily 
due to the expansion of upstream production in relation to flexitank solution (i.e. Polypropylene Woven production), resulting 
in the increase in domestic waste during the Reporting Period.

Besides, the Group had developed the 2023 environmental target for air pollutants emission, GHG emissions and 
waster production, and the result as at the end of Reporting Period is as follow:

Environmental KPI Targets 2023 vs. 2022
2023 vs. 

Baseline year
The intensity of air pollutants 

emissions
Maintain or reduce the intensity of air 
pollutants emissions based on 2021

Slight decrease Slight decrease

The intensity of greenhouse gas 
emissions

Maintain or reduce the intensity of 
greenhouse gas emissions based  
on 2021

Slight decrease Slight decrease

The intensity of waste production Maintain or reduce the intensity of 
waste production based on 2021

Slight increase Slight decrease
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• Case Sharing: Flexitank Recycling
We provide flexitank disposal eco-system to all our customers where the used flexitanks will be recycled in 
an environmentally friendly manner and turned into reusable plastic pellets. Our multi-layer and single-layer 
flexitanks produced by Infinity Bulk Logistics Sdn. Bhd., are made of Linear Low-Density Polyethylene 
(100% virgin grade) and Polypropylene-thermoplastics materials which are the most suitable materials for 
recycle or reuse.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The Group places high priority on the efficient use of resources. The major resources used by the Group are fuels, 
electricity, water, and packaging materials. For usage of water, the Group did not encounter any problems in 
sourcing water that is fit for purpose. The Group has established the following goals and measures to improve the 
efficiency of resource use.

Goals:

– During the Reporting Period, we have reviewed and reset preliminary directional targets in terms of energy 
use efficiency and water efficiency. We will review the progress and explore more opportunities for various 
environmental protection goals. In the future, we will set more specific quantitative environmental goals. The 
Group will actively implement below energy and water conservation measure to maintain or reduce the 
intensity of energy consumption and the intensity of water consumption on the baseline year of 2021.
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Measures:

– Establishing a rainwater collection system (rainwater harvest tank) to irrigate the plants;

– Adopting automatic faucets at production changing room to reduce the waste of water;

– Switching off lights and turning off unnecessary energy-consuming devices such as air-conditioning system 
when staff leaves the office;

– Adopting LED lighting in some production workshops and offices;

–	 Setting	the	temperature	of	the	air-conditioner	to	≥	23º	C;

– Promoting environmental protection such as saving water and electricity by slogan or poster or label in office 
and factories;

– Monitoring usage of water and electricity by designated department and checking for variance with past 
records;

– Encouraging the use of paper by printing or photocopying on both sides of paper, where applicable; Using 
online office system to minimise the use of paper;

– Improving product packaging forms to conserve the consumption of carton materials;

– Collection of carton boxes for recycling purpose;

– Adopting “one vehicle one card” policy so as to monitor the usage of fuel by each vehicle and to avoid 
wastage by private usage;

– Regular maintenance of machineries and vehicles with good condition for operational efficiency;

– Replacing the old prime movers by the ones with higher energy efficiency and greater environmental 
friendliness or phasing out in time;

– Replacing the diesel forklift by electric forklift and electric powered pallet stacker;

– Comparing usage of natural resources with previous months and checking for variances noted;

– Strictly following the procurement plan in order to avoid duplication of purchase and idle resources;

– Applying green technologies in our operations;

– Preference will be given to office equipment with relatively high energy efficiency;

– Focusing on quality management and adopting new artificial intelligence production systems so as to reduce 
wastage and scrap for less pollution resulted;
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Energy consumption, water consumption and packaging materials consumption by the Group during the Reporting 
Period are set out below:

Energy Consumption
Type of energy (kWh) (kWh)

2023 2022

Unleaded petrol 610,701.41 475,561.33
Diesel 33,106,765.61 34,954,112.99
Purchased electricity 1,357,625.83 1,193,287.50
Total 35,075,092.85 36,622,961.82
Energy intensity (kWh/Revenue RM’000) 94.71 102.62   

Note:

1. The Group has reviewed the calculation of energy consumption in 2022 and restated the relevant data accordingly.

Water Consumption
(tons) (tons)

2023 2022

Water consumed 21,747 12,688
Water Intensity (tons/Revenue RM’000) 0.06 0.04   

Note:

1. The water consumption has significantly increased compared to the corresponding period in 2022, primarily due to the 
expansion of depot and warehouse operation including the provision of container cleaning services to customer, resulting in 
the increase in water consumption during the Reporting Period.

Packaging Materials
Type of packaging materials (tons) (tons)

2023 2022

Plastic 1,607.00 1,504.81
Paper 1,255.00 1,062.56
Metal 1,849.00 1,448.86
Total 4,711.00 4,016.23
Packaging materials Intensity (tons/Revenue RM’000) 0.0127 0.0113   

Note:

1. The packing materials consumption has slightly increased compared to the corresponding period in 2022, primarily due to 
an increase in business volume during the Reporting Period.
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Besides, the Group had developed the 2023 environmental target for energy conservation and water conservation, 
and the result as at the end of Reporting Period is as follow:

Environmental KPI Targets 2023 vs. 2022
2023 vs. 

Baseline year
The intensity of energy consumption Maintain or reduce the intensity of 

energy consumption based on 2021
Slight decrease Slight decrease

The intensity of water consumption Maintain or reduce the intensity of 
water consumption based on 2021

Slight increase Slight increase

    

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group raises staff’s awareness on environmental issues through education and training and enlist employees’ 
support in improving the Group’s performance, promote environmental awareness amongst the customers, business 
partners and shareholders and support community activities in relation to environmental protection and sustainability 
and evaluate regularly and monitor past and present business activities impacting upon health, safety and 
environmental matters. We advocate adhering to the “Reduction, Reuse and Recycle (3R)” approach to 
environmental protection. At the same time, we developed the Environmental Aspects and Impacts Procedure to 
ensure relevant environmental aspects and impacts are identified within the operations and activities of the 
organization and applicable control procedures are in place to mitigate the significant impacts identified. With the 
integration of policies and measures mentioned in sections “Emissions” and “Use of Resource”, the Group strives to 
minimise the impacts to the environment and natural resources. The Group was accredited for ISO 14001:2015 
Environmental Management Systems since March 2021. The principal business activities of the Group do not have 
a significant impact on the environment and natural resources during the Reporting Period.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

Climate change is among the most pressing global challenges of our time. As a responsible logistics service 
provider, the Group is proactive with respect to identifying and assessing the potential impacts of climate change, 
and continuously improves its adaptation and mitigation capabilities. The Group is committed to keep abreast of the 
latest climate models and trends against climate change. During the Reporting Period, we identified the risks 
associated with climate change during the Group’s operation as below.

Climate related risks Impacts on operations Preventative and mitigation measures
Physical risks
Acute risks (Extreme  

weather such as  
typhoons, floods, etc.

– Extreme weather such as typhoons and 
floods will cause certain damage to the 
Group’s infrastructure such as 
warehouses, office buildings, 
transportation facilities and equipment;

– Rise in temperature may reduce the work 
efficiency of the Group’s employees and 
negatively affect their health and safety;

– Extreme weather such as typhoons and 
floods have a certain degree of impact on 
normal operations and efficiency of 
logistics and transportation business.

– Precautionary measures on flexible 
working arrangement have been taken by 
the Group under different extreme 
weather scenarios of extreme heat and 
flooding;
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Climate related risks Impacts on operations Preventative and mitigation measures
Chronic risks  

(e.g. global warming, 
sea level rise, etc.)

– Rising sea level may directly affect the 
operation of the Group in coastal areas, 
resulting in relocation of facilities, 
equipment and business.

– The Group has participated in climate 
change actions and protect the ecological 
environment.

Transitional risks
Policies and Regulations – The tightening of laws and regulations 

related to climate change will impose 
more stringent requirements in various 
aspects such as vehicle emissions and 
energy consumption in the logistics 
process of the Group, resulting in 
investing more resources for compliance 
assurance.

– The Group has monitored the updates of 
environmental laws and regulations 
closely.

Technology – The Group needs to invest more 
resources in the low-carbon 
transformation process (e.g. using 
low-carbon energy and technology, 
purchasing low-carbon equipment).

– The Group will increase investment in 
low-carbon technology and improve 
efficiency (e.g. prime mover 
replacement).

Reputation – Stakeholders are paying more attention 
to actions taken by the Group in respect 
of climate change. If the Group fails to 
take timely actions and respond to 
stakeholders, it may lead to customer 
and investor attrition.

– The Group has prioritized the climate 
change as a high concern in the market 
decisions to show to the stakeholders 
and customers that the Group is 
concerned about the problem of climate 
change.

Marketplace – Logistics services with low carbon 
attributes are more recognised by the 
market. If the Group fails to continuously 
promote sustainable logistics services, it 
may lose consumers’ favorability and 
lead to loss of customers.   

Though climate change and abovesaid extreme weather conditions do not directly impose significant threat to the 
Group’s business operations, the effects of global climate change harm the wellbeing and stability of countries and 
people on earth. However, we will continue to monitor the climate-related risks and implement relevant measures to 
minimize the potential impact of climate change.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

Aspect B1: Employment

The Group believes that a key to our success is our ability to recruit, retain, motivate and develop talented and 
experienced staff members. Therefore, the Group is committed to providing an equal, harmonious and diversified 
working environment to our employees in order to attract and retain suitable talents in the competitive labour market 
and for the purpose of maintaining its competitiveness in the industry. Our group assesses the available human 
resources on a continuous basis and will determine whether additional personnel are required to cope with the 
business development of our Group. The Group’s human resources manual sets out our standards for compensation 
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, confidentiality, and other benefits and 
welfare.

Recruitment

We place strong emphasis on creating an inclusive and diverse workplace where every employee feels valued and 
empowered. We have a recruitment policy in place to maintain a fair and effective recruitment procedure. Our 
“Recruitment, Selection and Placement Policy” is designed to support diversity and accommodate differences among 
our workforce. We believe that a diverse and inclusive workforce enhances creativity, innovation, and overall 
business performance.

Under our recruitment policy, we normally recruit employees with the appropriate skills, both technical and personal, 
in order to meet our current and future needs and to ensure that the employees appointed are qualified and 
competent to carry out the duties. In addition, when recruiting new employees or when providing our current 
employees with opportunities for promotion, we will not discriminate unlawfully against any person including but not 
limited to people of different nationalities, ethnicities, beliefs, disabilities, gender, and age, etc, and select the best 
person for the job in terms of qualification and abilities. The Group follows its Code of Business Conduct to prohibit 
employees from abusing or intimidating in physical, verbal, psychological, sexual or any other manners.

We entered into individual labour contracts with each of our employees in accordance with the applicable labour 
laws of Malaysia including but not limited to the Employment Act 1955, the Employees Provident Fund Act 1991, the 
Employees’ Social Security Act 1969, the Employment Insurance System Act 2017, which cover matters such as 
wages, employee benefits and grounds for termination. The remuneration package our Group offers to our 
employees includes salary, bonuses, allowances and medical benefits. In general, we determine an employee’s 
salary based on each employee’s qualifications, experience and capability as well as the prevailing market 
remuneration rate.

Our Group considers that our employees play a pivotal role in our continuous growth. It is our policy to maximise the 
potential of our employees through training and development. Our Group provides both internal and external training 
related to logistics knowledge, good customer service, safety and quality management and other useful topics. For 
new hires, our Group provides an induction training program followed by on-the-job training during their probation 
period, and continually monitors their progress throughout the probation period. Our employee training and 
development aim at equipping our employees with the knowledge and skills necessary to perform their job functions 
and enhance their capability. We believe this will also increase the overall competitiveness of our workforce and can 
maintain good relationship with our employee as we believe that our employees are valuable assets to our Group.



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 25

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Anti-discrimination

We are also committed to maintaining a workplace that is free from discrimination and harassment. We firmly 
believe in the value of diversity, respect, and equal opportunities for all employees. Our anti-discrimination 
measures reflect such commitment, and are designed to create a safe, inclusive, and supportive working 
environment. Channels for employees’ feedback are available to facilitate communications. To ensure that 
employees have a safe and confidential means to report any discrimination they encounter, we have established a 
reporting channel. This channel is designed to encourage open communication and the prompt resolution of 
discrimination issues. Key aspects of our reporting channel include:

a) Employees have the option to report discrimination concerns anonymously so as to protect their privacy and 
confidentiality;

b) Established a well-defined process for reporting discrimination, outlining the steps to be taken and the 
responsible parties;

c) Initiating thorough investigation to determine the validity of the claim upon receiving a discrimination report;

d) Established strict non-retaliation policy to safeguard employees who report discrimination concerns. 
Retaliation against employees who report discrimination is not tolerated in any form.

In conclusion, our anti-discrimination measures are grounded in our unwavering commitment to fostering a diverse, 
inclusive, and respectful workplace. We firmly believe that a workplace free from discrimination is essential for the 
well-being and productivity of our employees. These measures not only demonstrate our dedication to ESG 
principles but also reflect our core values and our commitment to maintaining a work environment where every 
employee can thrive, contribute, and grow without fear of discrimination.

Diversity

The Company recognizes that increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment of the Company’s 
strategic objectives and sustainable development. We have attached great importance to major amendments/
requirements in relation to board diversity with reference to the Corporate Governance Code set out by Appendix C1 
of the Listing Rules and taken measures to fulfill such.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy, which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity of 
the Board and is reviewed on the implementation and effectiveness annually. For the year ended 31 December 
2023, the Company maintained an effective Board comprising members of different genders. As at the date of this 
ESG Report, the Board consists of two female and six male Directors. The Board considers that the gender diversity 
in respect of the Board taking into account the business model and specific needs of the Company is satisfactory.

The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote diversity at all levels of its workforce. 
Opportunities for employment, training and career development are equally opened to all eligible employees without 
discrimination.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material non-compliance regarding employment and labour practices 
brought against the Group or its employees.
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees, which all of them are based in Malaysia, by gender, age group, 
geographical region and employee category as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

2023 2022
Number 
of staff

% of 
Total

Number 
of staff

% of 
Total

By gender
Male 571 70 432 66
Female 245 30 225 34     

Total 816 100 657 100

By age group
30 or below 428 52 326 49
31-40 259 32 227 35
41-50 92 11 77 12
51 or above 37 5 27 4     

Total 816 100 657 100

By employee category
Contract or short term 16 2 6 1
Normal 578 71 477 68
Middle and Senior 222 27 204 31     

Total 816 100 657 100

By geographical region
Malaysia 816 100 657 100     

Total 816 100 657 100     

Statistics of employees’ turnover rate by gender and age group for the Reporting Period and the corresponding 
period in 2022:

2023 2022
% of total % of total

Turnover rate by gender
Male 22 17
Female 22 63
Total 22 32

Turnover rate by age group
30 or below 22 37
31-40 23 30
41-50 19 25
51 or above 19 11
Total 22 32   



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 27

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Group places a strong emphasis on occupational safety of our staff. During the course of our business 
operations, our staff working at our warehouses are required to lift heavy objects and handle heavy mechanical 
equipment and our staff working at our flexitank production facilities are required to handle production machineries 
and equipment. They are provided with staff instructions manuals and supervision on-site to ensure their safety and 
health at work. We also provide regular internal and external trainings to our employees regarding operational and 
work safety, including but not limited to basic of firefighting, basic occupational first aid, warehouse safety, basic 
chemical spillage and leakage control and personal protection. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and 
regulations regarding safe working environment and labour protection from occupational hazards that have a 
significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1994.

The Group is committed to maintain a safe working environment which poses no threat to health under the Group’s 
control, and inspect any unsafe condition and fixing it immediately. Work place inspections have been conducted by 
the Safety, Health, Environment and Security Department regularly which covers but not limited to the following 
aspects, such as building and facility, chemical storage, emergency preparedness and firefighting, and production 
area inspection. Work place inspections reports would be prepared with inspections findings, action plan, person in 
charge and the due date, which shall be reviewed and approved by management. Furthermore, a full-time Safety 
and Health Manager was hired for management of safety and health issues, while Safety and Health Policy was 
formulated to actively respond and investigate all incidents and potential cases to prevent any mishaps from 
occurring and recurring, which has been endorsed by the senior management of the Group and communicated to 
the employee through briefing, induction, notice board etc. The management of the Group will continuously monitor 
the implementation of the aforementioned policy.

In addition, during the Reporting Period, we engaged qualified third-party testing agency to examine our fire 
prevention system at a quarterly basis. We also conducted the fire drill to raise awareness of fire prevention 
technique and replaced fire extinguishers timely to enhance the reliability of fire-fighting equipment. The results 
indicate compliance with relevant national and local laws and regulation.

• Case sharing: Basic Occupational Fire Fighting Training (“BOFF”) at Freight Village 1

On 26th and 27th June 2023, our Health, Safety and Environment (“HSE”) Department conducted a Basic 
Occupational Fire Fighting Training (“BOFF”) at Freight Village 1.

The objective of fire drill training is to enable individuals within the organization to effectively and safely 
respond in the event of a fire, minimizing risks and damages to the maximum extent possible. This includes 
familiarizing participants with evacuation procedures, educating them about fire hazards and prevention, 
practicing evacuation processes through drills, and enhancing overall preparedness and confidence in 
responding to fire emergencies. 
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• Case sharing: Basic Chemical Spillage and Leakage Control Training (“BCSLC”) at Freight Village 1

On 21th and 22th June 2023, Infinity’s Health, Safety and Environment (“HSE”) Department conducted a 
Basic Chemical Spillage and Leakage Control Training (“BCSLC”) at Freight Village 1.This training is to 
equip the team with the necessary knowledge and skills to manage and respond to the early stages of any 
accidental liquid or chemical spillage or leakage at our premises. 

Regarding insurance, our Group maintains insurance coverage against inherent risks arising out of our ordinary 
course of business, such as employees’ compensation for personal injuries, property damages or losses, third-party 
liability and various other areas.

We have taken out road and integrated transit insurance policy with coverage normally required for a Non-vessel 
operating common carrier (“NVOCC”) and freight forwarder for protection against claims for cargo loss or damage 
and legal liability arising from accidents, with a limit of approximately RM1 million for each event.

We have also taken out a comprehensive general liability insurance policy with a limit of US$10 million for a single 
incident against product liability covering various liability, such as personal injury, pollution fines and penalties due 
to manufacturing or installation defects and public liability covering all costs and expenses of third-party litigation 
and claims that arise from the manufacturing or installation defects.
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Below is a detailed breakdown of the Group’s work-related injuries and fatalities of the past three Reporting Periods 
(including the current Reporting Period):

2023 2022 2021

Number of Work-Related Fatalities: – – –
Rate of work-related fatalities – – –

Number of Work Injuries: 9 – 1
Lost days due to work injury 155 – 35    

Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Group recognizes that the knowledge and skills of our employees are among our most valuable assets. To 
foster a culture of continuous improvement, employee development, and empowerment, we have established a 
robust “Learning and Development Policy” that guides our approach to improving employees’ knowledge and skills 
in performing their job duties. All employees have equal access to training opportunities, ensuring that each team 
member has the chance to enhance their abilities. We regularly assess the impact of our development and training 
initiatives through feedback, performance evaluations, and metrics to assess the progress and effectiveness of our 
programs.

The “Learning and Development Policy” is a testament to our dedication to employee development, a cornerstone of 
our commitment to nurturing a skilled, motivated, and diverse workforce that is essential for the long-term success 
and sustainability of our organization, as well as one of the principles of our ESG management. By providing 
comprehensive, inclusive, and accessible training and development opportunities, we empower our employees to 
excel in their roles, drive our business forward, and achieve their career aspirations.

During the Reporting Period, we have organized a series of training activities that reflect our dedication to 
enhancing the knowledge, skills, and safety & health of our workforce. Below are key highlights of these training 
activities:

a) Organisational training relating to logistics sector, internal and external environment;

b) Technical training which is role-specific or function-specific;

c) Leadership or professional training for developing our managers and future leaders; and

d) Other training relating to the compliance, regulatory and statutory requirements on our products, services, 
organisation and industry.

We believe it is a win-win approach for achieving both employee and corporate goals as a whole. Please also refer 
to the section headed “B1: Employment” and “B2: Health and Safety” in this ESG Report for more details of training 
provided to our employees.
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In addition, the Group has formulated the “Training and Development Procedure” which will be focused on creating 
a motivated workforce capable of meeting new challenges and skilled in all aspects of their job and will tie in the 
Group’s goals both short and long-term. Each year, Training Needs Analysis (“TNA”) is conducted at the 
departmental level and Human Resource Department will compile all the departmental annual TNA summary to 
create an annual training calendar for the Group. To ensure that training activities support both the individual and 
the Group’s objectives, and are cost effective, the training activities will be planned and monitored for effectiveness.

Below is a detailed breakdown of the percentages of employees trained by gender and employee category during 
the Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2022:

2023 2022

By gender
Male 58% 65%
Female 42% 35%   

Total 100% 100%

By employee category
Contract or short term 2% –
Normal 46% 52%
Middle and Senior 52% 48%   

Total 100% 100%   

Note:

1. The calculation is referenced from the methods, assumptions and guidelines set out in the following Guidance and 
Standards: HKEX’s Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs in “How to prepare an ESG Report” to calculate 
percentage of employees trained. Percentage of employees trained in the relevant categories = T(x)/T x 100, T(x) = Number 
of employees who took part in training in the specified category, T = Number of total employees who took part in training.

The average training hours for employees by gender and employee category during the Reporting Period and the 
corresponding period in 2022 are as follows:

Hours per employee
2022 2021

By gender
Male 4.88 6.78
Female 8.52 7.05

By employee category
Contract or short term 6.13 –
Normal 3.51 4.82
Middle and Senior 12.37 11.59   
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• Case Sharing: Comprehensive Forklift Training Sessions

At Infinity, we believe in continuous training and upskilling for our staffs. On 18th and 19th October 2023, 
we engaged a professional service to conduct comprehensive forklift training sessions for our staffs, 
prioritizing safety in warehouse operations. 

By equipping our team with the essential skills and knowledge, we can improve the overall efficiency and 
productivity. At the same, it meets the needs of employees’ career development, raising the morale of our 
team.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group is fully aware that child labour and forced labour violate fundamental human rights and also pose threat 
to sustainable social and economic development. The Group strictly complies with relevant labour laws in Malaysia, 
such the Employment Act 1955. We will not tolerate the use of child or forced labour, no exploitation of children in 
any of its operations and facilities. To ensure that our operations are free from child labor and forced labor, we have 
established robust regulations and safeguards that reflect our dedication to upholding human rights. The Group has 
formulated Child Labour & Forced Labour Policy, serving as a guiding framework to ensure the prevention of child 
labor and forced labor in all aspects of our activities, helping us to maintain a commitment to the highest ethical and 
social standards in our business operations and supply chain.

To prevent child labor, we have implemented stringent age verification procedures in our recruitment processes. 
These procedures are designed to verify the age and eligibility of all employees. Key elements of our age 
verification process include:

– Comprehensive documentation checks to confirm the age of potential employees;

– Age confirmation through official identification documents, identify card (MyKad), or equivalent legal 
documents; and

– Other clear guidelines for recruitment teams on the legal working age in specific in Children and Young 
Persons (Employment) Act 1966.
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To prevent forced labour, we protect the right of our employees to freely choose employment and ensure that all 
employment relationships are voluntary. Employees can resign after serving the required termination notice or 
payment in lieu of notice. Our employment contracts are designed to ensure that employees have the freedom to 
resign within the scope of their contractual agreements. We uphold the principles of voluntary and non-coercive 
employment. Our employment offer letter strictly adheres to the legal and ethical guidelines in all termination and 
resignation processes. If any violation is discovered, it will be handled in a serious manner and in accordance with 
national and local laws and regulations. Employment contracts and other records, documentation of all relevant 
details of the employees (including age) are properly maintained for verification by relevant statutory body upon 
request.

We are committed to ensuring the rights and well-being of all workers, especially children, who may be vulnerable to 
child labor and individuals subjected to forced labor. Our commitment to ethical and responsible business practices 
is reflected in our comprehensive remedies to address these issues. We provide necessary medical and 
psychological support to address the physical and emotional well-being of the affected workers. Our commitment to 
these remedies is rooted in our dedication to ESG principles and the protection of human rights. We believe that a 
strong stance against child labor and forced labor is not only an ethical imperative but also essential for creating a 
sustainable and responsible business environment. These remedies represent our unwavering commitment to 
responsible and ethical business practices.

During the Reporting Period, we did not identify any issue related to child labour or forced labour within the Group.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group works closely with its customer, suppliers and subcontractors who are committed to high quality, 
environmental, health and safety standards. The Group monitors the environmental and social performance of its 
suppliers and subcontractors to ensure that its requirements are met, and to reduce the environmental and social 
risks caused by procurement and subcontracting. For selection of suppliers, in order to ensure the quality of our 
suppliers and managing environmental and social risks along the supply chain, we implement certain quality control 
procedures over our suppliers:

(i) Suppliers selection – We maintain a list of approved suppliers which we review and update from time to time. 
We generally select independent suppliers based on their track record, their availability, ability or capability 
to handle the relevant orders, and the cost of service.

(ii) Price and performance review – We review the performance, turnaround time and pricing terms offered by 
our suppliers on an annual basis before we decide to renew the contracts or otherwise. We also assess 
whether a supplier has sufficient resources and skills to fulfill our requirements. If any suppliers repeatedly 
fail to meet our quality standards without immediate rectification, we will terminate the agreement with the 
suppliers with immediate effect without compensation and we will not engage such suppliers again.

(iii) Licences check – We will check whether the suppliers possess the relevant licences for operating their 
business.

(iv) Environmental performance evaluation – We also perform environmental performance evaluation in the New 
Supplier Evaluation Form. In considering building partnership, we will give priority to companies holding 
ISO14001 environmental management system certification and using more environment-friendly products and 
services. In addition, the main raw material suppliers are required to fill out the Supplier Self-Assessment 
Questionnaire on a yearly basis and suppliers’ review will be conducted when necessary.



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 33

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(v) Business ethics review – We focuses on the integrity of suppliers and business partners and only chooses to 
deal with suppliers and business partners with good track records and no material violation of laws or 
business ethics in the past. The Group has zero-tolerance against bribery and corruption as well as forbids 
the supplier and business partner from securing service contract or partnership through any transfer of 
interest.

(vi) Commitments relating to health, safety and environment – We formulated Integrity Policy and Environmental, 
Health, Safety and Food Safety Rules and Guidelines for Contractors/Suppliers to expect all the suppliers 
and business partners to sign an acknowledgement form confirming that they have read and understood, and 
agreeing that it is their responsibility to comply to this Policy. In addition, Code of Business Conduct is in 
place which includes policies related to environmental and social aspect for the staff to inform all suppliers 
and business partners, via email footers inserted in all business mail communications, to remind them to 
comply to those policies. By above measures, we expected the suppliers and partners to integrate 
environmental considerations in their activities and strive for continuous improvement by minimising any 
adverse effects of its activities on the environment.

Regarding subcontractors, we select our subcontractors based on various criteria, including relationship with us, 
familiarity with our customers’ needs, price, quality, management team and labour resources. In order to monitor the 
performance of our subcontractors and the relevant laws, rules and regulations in Malaysia, we have put in place 
the following risk management and control measures:

• we arrange regular meetings with our subcontractors before the shipment in respect of delivery planning; and

• we require our subcontractors to provide consignees signed delivery order for each completed delivery.

The Group established an internal management team responsible for monitoring the implementation of the 
aforementioned procedures. Thus, we believe there are no significant environmental and social risks for our 
management decision on supply chain management during the Reporting Period. All suppliers and subcontractors 
are subject to the above practices regarding engagement procedures.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s number of suppliers by geographical location during the Reporting 
Period:

2023 2022
Numbers Percentage Numbers Percentage

South East Asia 1,221 96% 1,361 98%
Far East 5 1% 15 1%
Others 42 3% 17 1%     

Total 1,268 100% 1,393 100%     
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Quality control

We believe that our quality control measures enable us to provide quality services to our customers. Our process 
and quality management team (the “PQM Team”) is responsible for maintaining, compiling and reviewing our quality 
management procedures and other systematic documentations, and providing support to our employee training. We 
hold management review meetings regularly to discuss the results of external quality accreditation audits, review 
operations resources, follow up on customer feedback and complaints, and identify areas for improvement. Our 
PQM Team is also responsible for formulating and implementing standard operating procedures integrated into our 
operational processes in order to maximise the overall quality consistency of our services. When there is a deviation 
from the standard operating policy, our PQM Team will step in to rectify the situation immediately. Our PQM Team 
also actively participate in the problem-solving activities with operations team to ensure all process deviations or 
customers highlights are promptly resolved ensuring the highest level of service possible. Generally, our PQM Team 
comprised several employees led by a manager with more than 10 years of experience in the logistics industry in 
Malaysia. In addition to our PQM Team, our senior management team is actively involved in setting and reviewing 
quality policies and managing internal and external quality performance through customers and/or employees’ 
feedback.

Our quality control management system prepared by our PQM Team mainly includes, but not limited to, the following 
elements:

(i) Selection of suppliers and subcontractors – We maintain a list of approved suppliers which we review and 
update from time to time. For further details regarding the quality control on our suppliers, please refer to 
aspect “B5: Supply Chain Management” in this ESG Report.

(ii) Operation – Every stage of our operation process is monitored by our process and quality management 
department to ensure that the operation process conforms to specific quality control requirements. 
Supervisors of different operation processes also carry out regular inspection.

(iii) Process and quality planning – The product realisation and service provision processes (operations) are 
planned with adequate control points incorporated into the standard operating procedure and process owners 
monitor the operations are executed accordingly and institute corrective and preventive actions when 
deviation are detected to prevent any recurrence and occurrence.

(iv) Facilities and equipment management – Regular inspections and maintenance are carried out by us to 
ensure the up-to-standard performance of our facilities and equipment.

(v) Employee quality awareness – Regular trainings and continuous assessments of the performance of 
employee are conducted.

During the Reporting Period, there are no material disputes between our Group and our customers in respect of the 
quality of services provided by us and there were no cases of non-compliance against laws and regulations related 
to products and services responsibilities.
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Case Sharing: Achieving in becoming an Authorized Economic Operator

In July 2023, Infinity successfully was awarded Authorized Economic Operator (“AEO”) certification under 
the World Customs Organization (“WCO”). An AEO certified company is a company that has approval from 
the Customs Department after meeting supply chain safety standards under the SAFE Framework of 
Standards to Secure and Facilitate Global Trade (“SAFE Framework”) of the WCO. With AEO, we can now 
offer faster custom clearance, lower rate physical inspection for imported or exported goods, quicker 
released of shipment, enhanced security as well as improved risk mitigation to our stakeholders.

Additional quality control for our flexitank solution and related services

We believe that the quality of our flexitank solution and related services are crucial to our continued success. 
Hence, we place strong emphasis on achieving a consistently high quality for the flexitank to be used in the 
provision of our flexitank solution and related services. Our PQM Team is responsible for the establishment, 
implementation and maintenance of our Group’s quality management system in accordance with the international 
standards. It also assists in setting up the flexitank production quality control team which is responsible for 
conducting quality testing and inspection at the various stages of flexitank production from materials receiving, 
in-process assembly to finished product, ensuring the flexitanks produced are able to meet stringent requirements of 
our customers as well as the Quality Management System and Food Safety System that we are certified to, namely 
ISO 9001, ISO 22000, FSSC 22000, KOSHER Certificate, and HACCP.

Product Return and Recall Policy and Customer Complaint Handling

Generally, flexitanks provided to our customers are not refundable except for product quality reasons. Regarding 
manufacturing defects, we provide two-year warranty from the date of their delivery for unfilled flexitanks and 60 
days upon product contact for filled flexitanks. In order to make a claim against our manufacturing defects warranty, 
our customers need to store and use the flexitanks in compliance with our guidelines and instructions.

Our customer service team handles general enquiries, complaints and feedback from customers. Customer Related 
Process is formulated by the Group to set out the procedures for handling complaints from customers. If our 
customers have feedback or complaints regarding the quality of our products or services, they may contact our 
customer service personnel through email or other channels, who will record details of such feedback or complaints, 
and the relevant departments will be notified of such complains. Relevant corrective or remedial measures will be 
implemented when necessary. Annual customer satisfaction survey will be conducted and the result will be reported 
to the management for analyzing the customers’ feedbacks during the management review meeting.

During the Reporting Period, to the best knowledge of the directors, there was no official record of complains in 
relation to product or service, and there was no sold or shipped products were subject to recalls for safety and 
health reasons.
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Advertising and Labelling

In order to ensure that the promotion of the Group’s services conforms to the actual situation of the service, the 
Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations on advertising marketing, formulates and implements 
relevant systems for the supervision of advertising marketing, and strictly reviews publicly published promotional 
materials and sales commitments to prevent false or misleading propaganda content, and protect consumer rights 
from being infringed.

The Group requires all publicity content, such as external image display, event publicity, marketing publicity, to be 
produced and published only after approval, so as to avoid any form of false publicity and ensure its authenticity and 
accuracy.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group’s day-to-day operations involve the use of the intellectual property owned by customers, suppliers, 
business partners or the Group itself. Therefore, the protection of intellectual property rights is an extremely 
important task for the Group. All customers’ or suppliers’ confidential information is only accessible to employees 
who are responsible for the corresponding project. Without the permission of the related customers or suppliers, the 
Group will not provide any confidential information to any cooperative partners so as to maximise the security of 
data for customers and suppliers.

In addition, the Group had registered two trademarks with the relevant government agency in Malaysia, and had 
registered one domain name which considered material to our business. During the Reporting Period, there had 
been no material dispute or infringement of our trademarks by third party, nor had we infringed any trademark 
owned by third party. Our employees also understand the importance of intellectual property (“IP”) rights and their 
role in protecting confidential information and respecting company-owned IP.

Data Protection and Privacy

To further reinforce the privacy management in protection of the Group’s property and customers’ safety and 
interests, the Group stipulates a series of stringent and regulated policies for protecting personal information, the 
Group’s properties and classified information (including privacy of the employees and customers). We prohibit any 
abuse of personal information and illegal profiteering acts. IT department regularly performs testing to detect any 
unauthorized access and alteration of customer data in the system. Audit trails of system operation and system logs 
on the server are recorded. Firewall is set up to avoid any external unauthorized access to our system. In view of 
the above, the Group restricts to only allow authorized personnel to gain access to the customers’ and employees’ 
information system. The Group has established an internal management team responsible for monitoring the 
implementation of the aforementioned procedures.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 
impact relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters regard to products and services 
provided by the Group during the Reporting Period.
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Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

Anti-corruption is one of the basic principles of the corporate social responsibility defined internationally. The Group 
does not tolerate any form of corruption, including bribery and extortion, fraud and money laundering, and promise 
to operate our business in an honest, ethical and creditable manner. The Group has established policies and code 
of conduct for all employees, including Business Ethics Policy, Integrity Policy and Code of Business Conduct. The 
Group strictly abides by national and local laws and regulations related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money 
laundering, including but not l imited to the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009, Malaysian 
Anti-Corruption Commission (Amendment) Act 2018, Competition Act 2010 and other laws and regulations. The 
Group strictly upholds employee behavior standards, and prohibits employees from using their powers to engage in 
fraud and seeking personal gain. In addition, the Group has also formulated Anti-money Laundering Policy to 
safeguard the Group’s operation from Money Laundering or Terrorism Financing (ML/TF) risks.

To ensure operation efficiency and employees’ development in a fair and honest working environment, the Group 
has formulated whistleblowing policy in the corporate governance manual to promote business ethics and integrity 
so as to avoid suspected corruption, extortion and money laundering. Channel such as by letter and email for 
employees to report suspected corruption are provided. If there are any suspected case related to corruption, 
employees are encouraged to report the related cases through the mentioned channels. All these practical actions 
not only win the trust of customers, but also enhance the sense of belonging and fair play among our employees.

During the Reporting Period, we provided anti-corruption training for 175 (2022: 283) directors and employees in 
total. Looking ahead, we will continue to invest more resource to our anti-corruption training and expand the scope 
of anti-corruption training data disclosure.

The Group has been in strict compliance with law and regulation related to anti-corruption. During the Reporting 
Period, to the best knowledge of the directors, there was no material non-compliance or violations regarding 
anti-corruption exercises and no concluded legal case regarding corruption practices brought against the Group or 
its employees.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The public awareness on corporate social responsibility keeps rising these years. They expect corporations to 
operate and take long-term development of the society into consideration instead of focusing on short-term financial 
results and shareholders’ return. Being a social-responsible company, the Group is committed to contributing to the 
community and understanding the needs of the communities in which we operate, the Group strives to develop 
long-term relationship with our stakeholders and seek to make contributions to programs that have a positive impact 
on community development.

The Group has all along concerned about and focused on the caring for the underprivileged and environmental 
concerns in relation to the community. The Group has made charitable and other donations amounted to 
approximately RM161,000 during the Reporting Period (2022: RM92,000) in order to support initiatives which focus 
on the forementioned areas.
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1) 2023 – Uplifting the lives of indigenous children through education

During the Reporting Period, we continue to participate in corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) activity 
organized by KELAB IMPIAN INFINITY, an organization initiated with a mission to allow the indigenous 
children in the Pulau Indah vicinity to be better educated through free tuition classes so that they can cope 
with the level of education at school and those who have not attended school can have the opportunity to 
learn and have a better future. A 40 footer container was transformed into a study place for children. 
Partnering with the efforts of a group of retired teachers from the St. Barnabas Church in Klang, the project 
aims to teach the children between 3-17 English and Mathematics. The employees of the group also regularly 
engage in various activities with the children to educate them on issues like hygiene and healthcare.

2) 2023 –Food Packs to the Charities and Communities

Dapur Infinity, a moving kitchen project, was initiated with a mission to offer food packs to vulnerable 
community so that they can avoid starvation and access to necessary nutrients. The Group rotates weekly to 
provide volunteers in food packs and distribute to local charity homes in Klang ranging from elderly homes, 
orphanage and the disability welfare centre. Dapur Infinity also welcomes partnership with associations in 
organizing charity events.
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Since Dapur Infinity’s launch in November 2021, we have distributed more than 10,000 boxes of food packs.

3) 2023 – Towards a Better Logistics Industry – Memorandum of Understanding with Universities

The Memorandum of Understanding (“MoU”) was signed between Infinity and Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman 
(UTAR) on 20 March 2023 and was aimed at fostering greater collaboration between the industry and the 
academia. Infinity and UTAR share the strong commitment to work together towards developing a skilled 
workforce with the relevant skills, knowledge and experience suited to pursue a career in the logistics 
industry. Another MoU was singed on 23 February 2023 by Infinity and Universiti Malaya (UM) and was 
aimed at enhancing the quality of education and training of future workers in the field of logistics.

As part of the collaboration, Infinity will be donating a lab constructed from shipping containers. Infinity hopes 
that the lab will boost the university’s research output and also inspire the students’ interest in logistics. 
Infinity is proud to have worked closely as the industrial partner, advisor and be part of the UM Team 
emerged victorious at Robofun & Robothon Industry Challenge Demo Day 2023, focuses on nurturing 
industry-relevant talents equipped with autonomous mobile robotics knowledge and skills.
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Infinity also welcome Universities and students to engage us for more interviews and sharing sessions. 
Students from UTAR visited our Infinity HQ office on 14 July 2023 and interviewed our Heads of Department 
(HODs) to gain real world insights about the logistics industry. Our HODs graciously shared their knowledge 
and experience in warehouse management and the ins and outs of logistics operations. Infinity was delighted 
to host a group of 26 enthusiastic students and two esteemed lecturers from UTAR at Infinity’s Johor Branch 
in Pasir Gudang. Our HODs had an incredible opportunity to share insights on bulk logistics and logistics 
operations with the students.

(MoU with UTAR) (MoU with UM)

4) 2023 – Port Klang Shipping and Logistics Community Humanitarian Aid for Turkey and Syria

Standing in solidarity with the victims devastated by the earthquakes in Turkey and Syria, the Group, and 
other Authority jointly initiated the “Port Klang Shipping and Logistics Community Humanitarian Aid for Turkey 
and Syria”. The donation campaign successfully raised contributions totaling RM510,000 from Port Klang’s 
Shipping and Logistics Community. Malaysian Relief Agency (“MRA”) identified and sourced the aiding items 
urgently needed by the victims in both Turkey and Syria using the donation raised. Infinity coordinated and 
provided the logistics, forwarding and haulage services for the aiding items and Northport was coordinating 
with shipping lines for the loading of the containers onto the vessels to the nearest port of the affected areas 
in Turkey and Syria. MRA worked with the logistics counterparts in both countries for the cargo movements.
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REFERENCES TO THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
A. Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions
General 
Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into 
w a t e r  a n d  l a n d ,  a n d  g e n e r a t i o n  o f  h a z a r d o u s  a n d 
non-hazardous waste

Emissions 15-17

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions 17

KPI A1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions and, 
where appropriate, intensity.

Emissions 17

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, 
intensity.

Emissions 18

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, 
intensity.

Emissions 18

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to 
achieve them.

Emissions 16

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps 
taken to achieve them.

Emissions 16, 17

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
General 
Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 
water and other raw materials.

Use of Resources 19, 20

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and 
intensity.

Use of Resources 21

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of Resources 21

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps 
taken to achieve them.

Use of Resources 19, 20

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that 
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken 
to achieve them.

Use of Resources 19

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, if 
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

Use of Resources 21

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
General 
Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the 
environment and natural resources.

Emissions, Use of Resources 
and The Environment and 
Natural Resources

22

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to 
manage them.

Emissions, Use of Resources 
and The Environment and 
Natural Resources

22
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
Aspect A4: Climate Change
General 
Disclosure

Pol ic ies on ident i f ica t ion and mi t igat ion of  s ign i f icant 
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which 
may impact, the issuer.

Climate Change 22, 23

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the 
actions taken to manage them.

Climate Change 22, 23

B. Social
Employment and Labour Practices
Aspect B1: Employment
General 
Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and 
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, 
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Employment 24, 25

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- 
or part-time), age group and geographical region

Employment 26

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical 
region.

Employment 26

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
General 
Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting 
employees from occupational hazards.

Health and Safety 27, 28

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of 
the past three years including the reporting year

Health and Safety 29

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 29

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Health and Safety 27

Aspect B3: Development and Training
General 
Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

Development and Training 29, 30

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

Development and Training 30
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender 

and employee category.
Development and Training 30

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
General 
Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

Labour Standards 31, 32

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to 
avoid child and forced labour.

Labour Standards 31, 32

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 
discovered.

Labour Standards 32

Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
General 
Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 
supply chain.

Supply Chain Management 32, 33

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management 33

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number 
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and 
how they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management 32, 33

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and 
social r isks along the supply chain, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management 32, 33

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and 
how they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management 32

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
General 
Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy 
matters relating to products and services provided and methods 
of redress.

Product Responsibility 34-36

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls 
for safety and health reasons.

Product Responsibility 35

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received 
and how they are dealt with.

Product Responsibility 35
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 

intellectual property rights.
Product Responsibility 36

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility 34, 35

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 
and how they are implemented and monitored.

Product Responsibility 36

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
General 
Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-Corruption 37

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting 
period and the outcomes of the cases.

Anti-Corruption 37

KPI B7.2 Descript ion of preventive measures and whist le-blowing 
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Anti-Corruption 37

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and 
staff.

Anti-Corruption 37

Community
Aspect B8: Community Investment
General 
Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of 
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its 
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

Community Investment 37

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

Community Investment 37

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment 37
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company devotes to the best practices on corporate governance, and has complied with the code provisions of the 
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Rules (the “Listing 
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”), except for the following deviation and disclosed in the paragraph 
headed “Company Secretary”:

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the “Directors”) of the Company 
should meet regularly and board meeting should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. 
During the Reporting Period, only two regular board meetings were held to review and discuss various matters, including 
the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2023. 
The Company does not announce its quarterly results and hence does not consider the holding of quarterly meetings as 
necessary.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own 
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each of the 
Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

Board of Directors

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and should take decisions objectively in 
the best interests of the Company. The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a Director to perform 
his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and strategy, and has satisfied itself that the Group’s culture is 
aligned. Acting with integrity and leading by example, the Directors promote the desired culture to instil and continually 
reinforce across the Group the values of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly. The Group has adopted anti-corruption 
and whistleblowing policy to provide forums for reporting issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to uphold business 
integrity in its operations. Please visit our website (“Investor Relationships > Code of Business Conduct” section) to learn 
more about.

Composition

The Directors who hold office during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report are as follows:–

Executive Directors

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew1 (Chief Executive Officer)
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg
Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping1

Mr. Yap Sheng Feng2
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Non-Executive Director

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong2 (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Chi Keung
Mr. Tan Poay Teik
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica

Notes:

1. Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew is the spouse of Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping

2. Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong is the father-in-law of Mr. Yap Sheng Feng

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management” on pages 58 to 61 of this annual report. Apart from the above, there is no relationship (including financial, 
business, family or other material or relevant relationships) amongst members of the Board.

During the Reporting Period and up to date of this annual report, the Board has all times met the requirements of Rules 
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive 
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or 
accounting or related financial management expertise, and independent non-executive Directors representing at least 
one-third of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules and the Company considers each of them to be independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The chairman of the Company, Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong, is responsible for the overall strategic planning and 
corporate policies as well as overseeing the operation of the Group.

The chief executive officer of the Company (“CEO”), Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew, is responsible for overall management and 
operation of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board should meet regularly and Board meetings should be at least four times a year at quarterly interval. The 
Directors can attend meetings in persons or through other means of electronic communication in accordance with the 
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). Notice of at least 14 days is given of a regular 
Board meeting to give all Directors an opportunity to attend.

During the Reporting Period, the number of meetings, including Board meetings, Board committee meetings, annual 
general meeting and the attendance by each Director is as follows:
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Meeting attended

Board
Audit 

committee
Remuneration 

committee
Nomination 
committee

Annual 
general 
meeting

Number of meetings held 3 3 1 1 1

Executive Directors
Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew 3 N/A N/A N/A 1
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg 3 N/A 1 N/A 1
Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping 3 N/A N/A N/A 1
Mr. Yap Sheng Feng 3 N/A N/A N/A 1

Non-executive Director
Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong 3 N/A N/A 1 1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Chi Keung 3 3 N/A N/A 1
Mr. Tan Poay Teik 3 3 1 1 1
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica 3 3 1 1 1

Board papers are circulated at least 3 days before the Board meetings to enable the Directors to make informed decisions 
on matters to be raised at the Board meetings. In addition, the Company has maintained a procedure for the Directors to 
seek independent professional advice, in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their duties 
to the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the service of the company secretary of the 
Company (the “Company Secretary”) to ensure the Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

The Company Secretary prepare minutes and keeps records of matters discussed and decisions resolved at all Board 
meetings. The Company Secretary also keeps the minutes, which are open for inspection at any reasonable time on 
reasonable notice by any Director.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Each of the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a service contract or letter of 
appointment with the Company for a term of one year or three years.

The Articles of Association provides that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until 
the first general meeting of Shareholders after his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-election at such meeting and 
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM 
and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, 
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire 
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to 
retirement by rotation at least every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group in accordance with 
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to 
ensure that the financial statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt 
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial 
statements of the Company on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor on the financial statements of the Group are set out in the 
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

Responsibilities of and Delegation by the Board

The major powers and functions of the Board include, but are not limited to, convening the general meetings, presenting 
reports to the general meetings, implementing the resolutions passed at the general meetings, determining the operational 
plans and investment plans of the Group, determining the annual financial budgets and final accounts of the Group, 
determining the fundamental management system of the Group, formulating profit distribution plans and loss recovery plans 
of the Group, and exercising other powers and functions as conferred by the Articles of Association.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business 
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective function.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and 
risk management, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information and 
other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, 
directing and coordinating the daily operation of the Group and management of the Company are delegated to the 
management of the Company.

The Board and the management have clearly defined their authorities and responsibilities under various internal control and 
check and balance mechanisms. The Board does not delegate matters to the Board committee(s), executive Directors or 
the management to an extent that would significantly hinder or reduce the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its 
function.
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Directors’ Training

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities 
and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development activities by ways of attending training 
and/or reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. A summary of 
professional trainings received by the Directors for the Reporting Period according to the records provided by the Directors 
is as follows:

Attending training session and/
or reading materials relevant to 

the business or 
directors’ duties

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew ✔

Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg ✔

Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping ✔

Mr. Yap Sheng Feng ✔

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong ✔

Mr. Li Chi Keung ✔

Mr. Tan Poay Teik ✔

Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica ✔

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board recognizes that corporate governance (“CG”) should be the collective responsibility of Directors and their CG 
duties include:

a. to approve and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

b. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;

c. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. to review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance (if any) applicable to the Directors and employees; and

e. to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code and disclosure in the CG Report 
under the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the policies and practices on CG and this CG report.

Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations and the corporate 
governance practice under the Listing Rules, including the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration 
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”).
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-executive Directors. During the Reporting Period and as 
at the date of this annual report, the members of the Audit Committee were as follows:

Mr. Li Chi Keung
Mr. Tan Poay Teik
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica

Mr. Tan Poay Teik who possess the appropriate accounting qualification and financial management expertise, currently 
serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) maintaining the relationship with the Company’s auditor; (b) reviewing 
the Company’s financial information; and (c) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and 
internal control systems. The full version of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Stock 
Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company’s website at “www.infinity.com.my”.

Details of attendance of the meetings of the Audit Committee are set out in the sub-section headed “Board Meetings” of the 
section headed “Board of Directors” above. The following matters were dealt with at the said meetings or by way of written 
resolutions:

– reviewing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the annual results 
announcement;

– reviewing the interim consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the interim 
results announcement;

– reviewing the significant audit and accounting issues arising from the external auditor’s audit;

– considering the appointment of the external auditor and their audit fees;

– meeting with the external auditor without the presence of management to discuss issues arising from the audits and 
any other matters the auditor might wish to raise;

– reviewing the Company’s compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements; and

– reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management system.

The annual results for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit Committee before submission to the Board for 
approval.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director. 
During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report, the members of the Nomination Committee were as follows:

Mr. Tan Poay Teik
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica
Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, 
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the 
Board to complement of the Company’s corporate strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board 
members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated of directorships; 
(c) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning 
for Directors in particular the chairman of the Board and the CEO; and (d) assessing the independence of the independent 
non-executive Directors. The full version of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the Stock 
Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company’s website at “www.infinity.com.my”.

Details of attendance of the meeting of the Nomination Committee are set out in the sub-section headed “Board Meetings” 
of the section headed “Board of Directors” above. The following matters were dealt with at the said meeting or by way of 
written resolutions:

– to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

– to consider the re-election of Directors; and

– to review the composition of the Board.

No member took part in voting on his re-election of Director at the meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director. 
During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report, the members of the Remuneration Committee were as 
follows:

Mr. Tan Poay Teik
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica

Mr. Tan Poay Teik currently serves as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (a) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy 
and structure for all Directors, the senior management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and transparent 
procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b) determining, making recommendations to the Board, considering and 
approving the remuneration package of individual executive Directors and senior management and the compensation 
arrangements relating to loss or termination of office or appointment; and (c) reviewing and approving the management’s 
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives. The full version of the terms of 
reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the Stock Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the 
Company’s website at “www.infinity.com.my”.

Details of attendance of the meeting of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the sub-section headed “Board 
Meetings” of the section headed “Board of Directors” above. The following matters were dealt with at the said meeting or by 
way of written resolutions:

– to review and discuss the remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management of the Company; and

– to consider and approve the remuneration packages for the proposed Directors.

No member took part in voting on his own remuneration at the meeting.

The annual remuneration of members of the senior management (including all executive Directors) by band for the 
Reporting Period is set out below:

Annual remuneration bands Number of persons

Nil to RM2,000,000 4
Over RM2,000,000 1

Board Diversity Policy

The Group adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). A summary of this policy are disclosed as 
below:

The purpose of the Board Diversity Policy is to set out the basic principles to be followed to ensure that the Board has the 
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board 
and to maintain high standards of CG.

The Nomination Committee has primary responsibility for identifying candidates, formulating selection standards and 
procedures, and examining candidates for directors and senior management of the Company, and providing 
recommendations on the selection. The Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to this policy in identifying 
and selecting suitably qualified candidates to become directors of the Company.

Selection of director candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s 
business model and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, race, language, cultural background, educational 
background, industry experience and professional experience.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, developing and reviewing measurable 
objectives for implementing the policy and monitoring the progress on achieving these measurable objectives. The 
Nomination Committee shall review the Board Diversity Policy and the measurable objectives at least annually to ensure 
the continuing effectiveness of the Board.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Company had a total of 8 Directors, covering different gender and have a broad age 
distribution. There is a diverse mix of experience and background including logistics, administration, finance and 
accounting. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and considers that, appropriate balance 
has been stricken among the Board members in terms of skills, experience and perspectives.

Nomination Policy

The Company adopted a policy for nomination, pursuant to which, the Nomination Committee shall advise the Board on the 
appointment of any director in accordance with the following procedures and process:

1. Appointment of new Director

a) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select candidate for directorship from various channel, 
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other member of the management 
and external recruitment agents, and should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director 
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the 
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. If an independent 
non-executive director is to be appointed, the Committee and/or the Board will also assess and consider 
whether the candidate can satisfy the independence requirements as set out in the Listing Rules.

b) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should 
rank them by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each 
candidate (where applicable).

c) The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for 
directorship, as applicable.

d) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a director at the general meeting of the 
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria 
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the 
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the 
proposed election of director at the general meeting.

2. Re-election of Director at general meeting

a) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the overall contribution and service to the 
Company of the retiring director and his/her level of participation and performance on the Board.

b) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review and determine whether the retiring director 
continues to meet the criteria as set out above. If an independent non-executive director is subject to the 
re-election, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board will also assess and consider whether the 
independent non-executive director will continue to satisfy the independence requirements as set out in the 
Listing Rules.

c) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make recommendation to Shareholders in respect 
of the proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.
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In assessing the candidates, the Nomination Committee shall take into the following factors, including but not limited to:

1. character and integrity;

2. qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the 
board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

3. any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

4. any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, 
independence and gender diversity;

5. willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board 
committee(s) of the Company; and

6. such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business and succession plan and where applicable, 
may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Committee from time to time for nomination of directors 
and succession planning.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company conducts an annual review on whether there is a need for an internal audit department. Given the Group’s 
simple operating structure, as opposed to a separate internal audit department, the Board is directly responsible for the 
establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s systems of internal controls and risk management throughout the 
Reporting Period and their effectiveness. The Company has engaged an external independent professional advisory firm 
(the “Independent Advisor”) to review the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and internal control systems 
for the Reporting Period so as to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and internal controls systems. 
The Independent Advisor had reviewed and analysed all material controls of the Group, including financial, operational and 
compliance controls and their associated risks. The reports from the Independent Advisor were presented to and reviewed 
by the Audit Committee and the Board. The internal audit service was also rendered by the Independent Advisor.

The Board considered the risk management and internal control systems of the Group to be adequate and effective for the 
Reporting Period. The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff 
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programs and budget which are considered to 
be adequate for the Reporting Period.

The Board wishes to emphasize that risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage, rather than 
eliminate, risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group strictly follows the requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) and the 
Listing Rules and ensures that inside information is disclosed to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the 
information falls within any of the safe harbours of the SFO. Before inside information is fully disclose to the public, such 
information is kept strictly confidential. In addition, the Group adopted the policy of disclosing relevant information only to 
appropriate staff within the Group.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of the Company, Kreston John & Gan (2022: Mazars CPA Limited 
and Mazars LLP), in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group for the Reporting Period are set out 
below:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Kreston John & Gan
Annual audit for the year ended 31 December 2023 390 –

Mazars CPA Limited and Mazars LLP
Annual audit for the year ended 31 December 2022 – 534

Non audit services:
– services relating to a circular on a potential very substantial acquisition transaction 

(Note) – 117   

Note: The non-audit services was rendered by Mazars CPA Limited.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company encourages the Shareholders to attend the general meetings of the Company. The general meetings of the 
Company provide an opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. Each general meeting, other 
than an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting.

The Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) and for Putting Forward 
Proposals at General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of Articles of Association, extraordinary general meeting of the Company shall be convened on the 
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid 
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the 
Board or the company secretary of the Company at the Company’s head office or principal place of business in Hong Kong, 
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such 
requisition and signed by the requisitionist(s) (the “Requisitionists”)

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the 
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, 
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to 
the Requisitionist(s) of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time put forward their enquires (including the procedures for putting forward proposals at general 
meetings of the Company) to the Board in writing and the contact details are as follows:

Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited
Room 1910, 19/F
C C Wu Building
302-308 Hennessy Road
Wan Chai
Hong Kong
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The Procedures for Shareholders to Propose for Election as a Director of the Company

Article 113 of the Articles of Association provides that no person, other than a retiring director of the Company, shall, 
unless recommended by the board of directors of the Company for election, be eligible for election to the office of director 
of the Company at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a 
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at 
the registration office. The period for lodging the notices as required under the Articles of Association will commence no 
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later 
than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such notices 
to the Company may be given will be at least seven days.

Accordingly, if a shareholder wishes to nominate a person to stand for election as a director of the Company at the general 
meeting, the following documents must be validly served at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or the 
Branch Share Registration and Transfer Office, namely (1) his/her notice of intention to propose a resolution at the general 
meeting; (2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of his/her willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s 
information as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated candidate’s written 
consent to the publication of his/her personal date.

Investor Relations and Communication with Shareholders

The Board established a Shareholders’ communication policy to ensure that Shareholders and potential investors are 
provided with ready, equal and timely access to information of the Company.

The Company has maintained a corporate website at www.infinity.com.my through which the Company’s updated financial 
information, business development, announcements, circulars, notices of meetings, press releases and contact details can 
be accessed by the Shareholders and investors.

Dividend Policy

Payment of any future dividends will be made at the discretion of the Board and will be based upon the earnings, cash 
flows, financial condition, capital requirement, statutory fund reserve requirements and any other conditions that the 
Directors consider relevant. The declaration, payment and amount of any future dividends will be subject to the 
constitutional documents of the Company including, where necessary, the approval of the Shareholders.

Company Secretary

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick (“Mr. Lau”) was appointed as the Company Secretary on 29 May, 2019. Mr. Lau has confirmed 
that he received not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Reporting Period.

Pursuant to code C.6.1 of the CG Code, the Company can engage an external service provider as its company secretary, 
provided that the Company should disclose the identity of a person with sufficient seniority at the Company whom the 
external provider can contact. Mr. Lau does not act as an individual employee of the Company, but as an external service 
provider in respect of the appointment of Mr. Lau as the company secretary of the Company. In this respect, the Company 
has nominated Dato’ Seri Chan as its contact point for Mr. Lau.

While the Company is well aware of the importance of the company secretary in supporting the Board on governance 
matters, the Company, after having considered Mr. Lau’s employment at Ascent Corporate Services Limited, which 
provides corporate advisory and company secretarial services, both the Company and Mr. Lau are of the view that there 
will be sufficient time, resources and supporting for fulfilment of the company secretary requirements of the Company.
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In view of Mr. Lau’s experience in accounting and company secretarial functions and with stock exchange rules and 
regulations, the Directors believe that Mr. Lau has the appropriate accounting and company secretarial expertise for the 
purposes of Rule 8.17 of the Listing Rules.

Constitutional Documents

The Articles of Association were approved on 14 December 2019 by special resolution and with effect from the Listing 
Date.

On 29 June 2022, the amendments of the Articles of Association have been approved in the annual general meeting of the 
Company. Details of the amendments of the Articles of Association have been set out in the announcements of the 
Company dated 11 April 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 22 April 2022. The amended Articles of Association 
dated 29 June 2022 is available on the Company’s website at www.infinity.com.my and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Save as disclosed therein, there were no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during the 
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE 
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there were no other changes to the Director’s information that are 
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew, aged 51, was appointed as the executive Director, chief executive officer and the chairman of 
the Board on 29 May 2019. He ceased to be the chairman of the Board and the Nomination Committee on 2 July 2021. 
Dato’ Seri Chan established Infinity Logistics & Transport Sdn. Bhd., which commenced business in 2003, and he is 
currently the managing director of the Group. He is responsible for the Group’s overall business planning and operational 
development, planning and execution of business strategic direction. He also identifies opportunities for the business 
growth of the Group for expansion, ensures implementation of the governance and risk management policies for corporate 
sustainability, establishes and maintains effective formal and informal relationship with all the major stakeholders and 
ensures budgetary control across the Group. Dato’ Seri Chan is also a director of several subsidiaries of the Group.

Dato’ Seri Chan has over 27 years of experience in the logistics industry. Prior to founding Infinity Logistics & Transport 
Sdn. Bhd., he was employed by Union Transport (M) Sdn. Bhd. as a branch executive from March 1996 to October 1996 
where he was responsible for managing day-to-day air freight and sea freight operation. He then worked as a warehouse 
manager of Target Warehouse (M) Sdn. Bhd. from November 1996 to February 1997 where he was responsible for 
managing sea freight and bonded warehouse operation. From February 1997 to February 2003, he was employed by TS 
Warehouse & Distribution Sdn. Bhd. as the business development director where he was responsible for overseeing the rail 
transport business of the company. Attributed to his reputation in the logistics industry in Malaysia, he has been appointed 
as a member of the board of directors of the following statutory bodies in Malaysia: member of Perbadanan Stadium 
Malaysia from October 2018 to May 2020, director of Johor Port Commission and Penang Port Commission from January 
2019 to March 2020, director of Johor Port Commission (Tg Pelepas) and director of Port of Penang Port Commission 
Telok Ewa from March 2019 to January 2020. He is also a director of a number of private companies such as real estate 
holding companies and investment properties. Dato’ Seri Chan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of 
the following companies listed on Malaysia Stock Exchange: Boustead Plantations Bhd (stock code: 5254)) during the 
period from 22 July 2019 to 24 June 2020 and Orgabio Holdings Berhad (stock code: 0252) from 8 June 2021 to date.

Dato’ Seri Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree in social science majoring in political science from the Universiti Sains 
Malaysia in August 1996. He became a chartered member of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in 
December 2006. Dato’ Seri Chan is the spouse of Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping.

Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg, aged 51, was appointed as an executive Director on 29 May 2019. He is also a member of the 
Remuneration Committee. Dato’ Kwan joined the Group in January 2004 and he is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
operational processes, ensuring proper operational controls are in place, and optimizing the capabilities to achieve 
operational efficiency. Besides that, he also leads the implementation of the business and marketing strategies to improve 
the Group’s sales by developing new customers and retaining existing customers. Dato’ Kwan is also a director of several 
subsidiaries of the Group.

He has been instrumental in helping the Group to be awarded the Silver Award for Best Innovation by the Star Business 
Awards 2014, by introducing and promoting the 20’ HC Container to the market, providing better payload and offering lower 
shipping cost per cubic meter to the shippers. Dato’ Kwan has over 19 years of experience in the logistics industry. Prior to 
joining the Group from March 1995 to January 2000, he was a production planning executive at Delloyd Industries Sdn 
Bhd, an automotive parts manufacturer, and was responsible for supply chain management from procuring material for 
production to delivery to customers. He was later employed by Dolphin Shipping Agency Sdn. Bhd. as a sales executive 
from January 2000 to June 2001 where he was responsible for handling shipping documentation and shipment related 
operations. From June 2001 to December 2003, he was employed as sea division manager of TS Freight Services Sdn. 
Bhd. where he has been exposed to the various aspects of the shipping sector and gained knowledge in the management 
of containerized transportation. He is also a director of a number of private companies such as investment and property 
holding companies.
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He holds a Diploma in Business Administration from the Binary College in December 1994. Dato’ Kwan is the brother of 
Ms. Kwan Siew Mun.

Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director on 29 May 2019. She joined the Group in 
March 2003 and is the administration director of the Group overlooking the development of the Group’s general 
administration policies and procedures and human resources matters, ensuring the internal controls measures are duly 
implemented throughout the organization as well as providing leadership in development of the Group’s human resources 
through conducting effective recruitment, training and succession planning programs.

Datin Seri Lo was employed by Vertitech (M) Sdn. Bhd. as an administration executive from March 1998 to May 1999. 
From May 1999 to April 2001, she worked in Yongshen HeatTreatment Sdn. Bhd. as a sales executive. She was employed 
by Casco Décor Sdn. Bhd. as a sales executive from May 2001 to November 2001.

Datin Seri Lo obtained a bachelor’s degree of art from the Universiti Sains Malaysia in July 1998. She became a chartered 
member of The Chartered Institute of Logistics & Transport in December 2006. Datin Seri Lo is the spouse of Dato’ Seri 
Chan Kong Yew.

Mr. Yap Sheng Feng, aged 32, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 7 August 2020 and re-designated to an 
executive Director on 31 December 2020.

He graduated with a Bachelors of Commerce from The Australian National University in 2014. Mr. Yap enrolled in Tsinghua 
University’s Business Leadership Program for overseas Chinese, completed in October 2014. Thereafter, he joined 
Multiway Trading Limited in 2016 where he was involved in the buying and selling of physical commodities whilst 
developing new business opportunities for the company.

Mr. Yap joined Perfect Hexagon Group in 2017 and was promoted to hold a significant role, i.e. Corporate Liaison of 
Perfect Hexagon Group in 2018. Mr. Yap attends all key meetings and have up-to-date knowledge of company projects and 
businesses. He provides top-quality advice, assistance to project planning, coordination, monitoring and reporting in any 
company collaborations. He also facilitates effective knowledge management and communication between the company, 
shareholders and investors. Mr. Yap was involved in the planning and execution of the onboarding process as market 
makers and members for commodity associations and exchanges including Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited 
(HKEX), London Metals Exchange (LME), Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME), Bursa Malaysia Derivatives Berhad 
(Bursa), and Singapore Bullion Market Association (SBMA). Mr. Yap has also successfully completed USD 300 million bond 
issuance program for Perfect Hexagon Group in 2018.

Mr. Yap is the son-in-law of Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong.

Non-Executive Director

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong, aged 59, was appointed as an executive Director on 19 March 2021. He was re-designated 
as a non-executive Director and appointed as the chairman of the Board and the Nomination Committee on 2 July 2021.

Tan Sri Datuk Tan is also the Chairman of Perfect Hexagon Limited (“Perfect Hexagon”), a well-established commodity 
trading company based in Hong Kong, which has strong regional presence in Asia and network offices in Europe, Australia 
and South America. In addition, Perfect Hexagon is the most active liquidity provider for HKEX LME Mini and USD Precious 
Metals contracts. Tan Sri Datuk Tan has built an extensive network in various industries worldwide. These industries cover 
mining, refineries, commodity trading, agriculture, hospitality and healthcare.
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Tan Sri Datuk Tan currently serves as the board members of various social and non-profit organisations. He is the 
President of Asia Pacific Tsinghus CEO Chambers of Commerce and Industry Berhad, the Vice President of 
Malaysia-China Friendship Association and Malaysia China Diplomatic Proponent Association, and the Deputy President of 
Malaysia-China Culture & Arts Association. Meanwhile, Tan Sri Datuk Tan is the advisor of Association of Belt & Road 
Malaysia, and the Honorary Advisor of The Association of Graduates from Tsinghua University, Malaysia.

Tan Sri Datuk Tan is the father-in-law of Mr. Yap Sheng Feng.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Chi Keung, aged 66, was appointed as the independent non-executive Director of the Group on 14 December 2019. 
He currently is the member of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Li has over 32 years of experience in the logistics industry. He joined the OOCL group of companies from November 
1988 to November 2007. He worked in one of the OOCL group of companies in Hong Kong from November 1988 to August 
1994 and was transferred to the United States in September 1994 as pricing manager. He then rejoined the Hong Kong 
office of OOCL group in July 2000 with his last position as general manager. From November 2007 to present, he worked 
for the group companies of Mitsui O.S.K Lines Ltd which is listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 91040) and 
his current position is trade consultant. During his employment with Mitsui O.S.K Lines Ltd, he was seconded to Malaysia 
from February 2014 to March 2017 as country director.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in business studies from the Bolton University in August 2004 and a master’s degree in 
international shipping and transport logistics from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2008.

Mr. Tan Poay Teik, aged 38, was appointed as the independent non-executive Director of the Group on 14 December 
2019. He is the chairmen of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. He is also a member of the Nomination 
Committee.

Mr. Tan was employed by Greenfield Partners, an accounting firm based in Australia, as an accountant from August 2009 
to January 2011. He then worked for Ernst & Young from January 2011 to July 2015 with his last position as assistant 
manager. He joined The Commons, a shared workspace provider based in Melbourne, Australia, and is currently the chief 
financial officer and director of the company where he is responsible for overseeing the financial activities and the overall 
operation of the company.

Mr. Tan obtained a bachelor’s degree in commerce and a bachelor’s degree in arts (media and communications) from the 
University of Melbourne in December 2008 and a graduate diploma of chartered accounting from The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia in April 2012. He became a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand in 
September 2012.

Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica, aged 43 was appointed an independent non-executive Director on 7 August 2020. She 
currently is the members of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Ms. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Management Studies in 2003 from the Leeds University Business School in the 
United Kingdom. She finished the Diploma Programme in Neuro-Linguistic Communication and Business Management in 
2006 at the School of Continuing and Professional Studies at The Chinese University of Hong Kong. She then went on to 
earn her Master of Housing Management in 2011 from the University of Hong Kong.
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Ms. Yeung first worked for Urban Property Management Ltd., Hong Kong, as a Senior Property Asset Officer from October 
2003 to July 2008. Afterwards, she was employed at Complete Ltd., Hong Kong, as a Lettings and Management Officer 
between July 2008 and October 2009. She then returned to Urban Property Management Ltd. as an Assistant Property 
Manager from December 2009 to May 2012. At Fair & Square Insurance Broker Company Ltd., Hong Kong, Ms. Yeung was 
an Independent Financial Advisor between June 2012 and February 2014. Following, was a position with Manulife 
(International) Ltd., Hong Kong as a Financial Planning Manager from March 2014 to the present. She also joined Mywayz 
Ltd. in October 2016 as a director to the present.

Senior Management

Ms. Kwan Siew Mun, aged 57, joined the Group in November 2005 and is currently the customer service and procurement 
senior manager of the Group. She is responsible for overseeing internal quality control for the Group’s systems, 
procedures, and processes, ensuring optimal operational efficiency and improvements, and customer relationship 
management, as well as overseeing and managing the operations and activities of the procurement function of Infinity Bulk 
Logistics (MY).

Ms. Kwan has over 27 years of experience in the logistics industry. From 1986 to 1997, she was employed by Tuck Sun & 
Co. (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. with her last position as warehouse executive. She joined the Group in November 2005 as a 
customer service manager and was promoted to her current position in July 2012.

Ms. Kwan obtained a diploma in business administration from The Association of Business Executive in June 1996. 
Ms. Kwan is the sister of Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg.

Company Secretary

Mr. Lau Wai Piu, Patrick, aged 50, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 29 May 2019.

Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in aspect of financial reporting, accounting and auditing. He obtained a higher 
diploma in accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1997 and a master’s degree of arts in 
international accounting from the same university in November 2002. He was admitted as a fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants in July 2005 and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 
September 2007.
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) their report together with 
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is an investment holding. Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set 
out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 78 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future business development 
are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 9 of 
this annual report.

The above discussions form part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTY

Risk associated with financial instruments of the group

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Details of the key sources of estimation uncertainty as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 2 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied in material aspects with the relevant laws and 
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the Reporting Period, there 
was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable of relevant laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND EMPLOYEES

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers and customers to meet its 
immediate and long-term goals. The Group enjoy good relationships with suppliers and customers with mutual trust. 
Accordingly, the management have kept good communications, promptly exchanged ideas and shares business update 
with them when appropriate. During the Reporting Period, there were no material and significant dispute between the 
Group and its suppliers and/or customers.
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The employees play a pivotal role in the Group’s continuous growth. The Group provides both internal and external training 
related to logistics knowledge good customer service, safety and quality management and other useful topics to the 
employees. The Group have always maintained a good working relationship with the employees. During the Reporting 
Period, none of the employees had any labour dispute or claim involving and against the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to long term sustainability of the environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an 
environmental responsible manner, the Group endeavors to comply with the laws and regulations regarding environmental 
protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance are set out in the Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report of the Company on pages 10 to 44 of this annual report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 26(b) 
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 81 of this annual 
report, respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Reporting Period amounted to approximately RM161,000.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant 
investments, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the Reporting Period and details of the Group’s property, plant and 
equipment are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in note 25 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered 
into during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the 
assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may 
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision 
for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew (“Dato’ Seri Chan”) (Chief Executive Officer)
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg (“Dato’ Kwan”)
Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping (“Datin Seri Lo”)
Mr. Yap Sheng Feng

Non-executive Director

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong (“Tan Sri Datuk Tan”) (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Chi Keung
Mr. Tan Poay Teik
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica (“Ms. Yeung”)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), Dato’ Seri 
Chan, Tan Sri Datuk Tan and Ms. Yeung shall retire by rotation at the annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) 
and Dato’ Seri Chan and Tan Sri Datuk Tan, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election. Ms. Yeung has 
tendered her resignation as an independent non-executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. 
She, although being eligible, has also informed the Board her intention of not seeking re-election and will retire from the 
Board with effect from the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not 
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of each Director and CEO in the shares, underlying shares and 
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as 
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(i) Interest in the shares of the Company

Name of Directors Capacity
Number of 

shares held(1)

Approximate 
percentage of the 

issued shares    

Dato’ Seri Chan(2) Beneficial owner, interest in a controlled 
corporation and interest held jointly with 
another person

1,343,686,000 65.10%

Dato’ Kwan(2) Beneficial owner, interest in a controlled 
corporation and interest held jointly with 
another person

1,343,686,000 65.10%

Datin Seri Lo(3) Interest of spouse and interest held jointly 
with another person

1,343,686,000 65.10%

Tan Sri Datuk Tan(4) Beneficial interest and interest in a controlled 
corporation

146,310,000 7.09%

Yap Shing Feng Beneficial interest and interest of spouse 42,340,000 2.05%

Notes:

(1) Interests in shares stated above represent long positions.

(2) 2926 Holdings Limited (“2926 Holdings”) is the registered and beneficial owner holding 40.88% of the issued Shares of the 
Company. The issued share capital of 2926 Holdings is owned as to 63.9% by Dato’ Seri Chan and 36.1% by Dato’ Kwan. 
On 29 May 2019, Dato’ Seri Chan and Dato’ Kwan entered into the concert parties confirmatory deed (the “Concert Parties 
Confirmatory Deed”) to acknowledge and confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting in concert (having the 
meaning ascribed to it under the Takeover Code). By virtue of the Concert Parties Confirmatory Deed, each of Dato’ Seri 
Chan and Dato’ Kwan is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by 2926 Holdings under the SFO. Together with 
319,576,720 and 180,423,280 shares held beneficially by Dato’ Seri Chan and Dato’ Kwan respectively, each of 2926 
Holdings, Dato’ Seri Chan and Dato’ Kwan is deemed to be interested in 1,343,686,000 shares in the Company.

(3) Datin Seri Lo is the spouse of Dato’ Seri Chan and is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the Shares which Dato’ Seri 
Chan is interested under the SFO.

(4) 55,940,000 shares were held by Multiway Trading Limited (“Multiway”) which is wholly owned by Tan Sri Datuk Tan. By 
virtue of the SFO, Tan Sri Datuk Tan is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Multiway. Together with 
90,370,000 shares held beneficially, Tan Sri Datuk Tan is deemed to be interested in 146,310,000 shares in the Company.
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(ii) Interests in the shares of an associated corporation of the Company

Name of Directors
Name of associated 
corporation Capacity

Number of 
shares held(1)

Approximate 
percentage of the 

issued shares     

Dato’ Seri Chan 2926 Holdings Beneficiary owner 604 63.9%

Dato’ Kwan 2926 Holdings Beneficiary owner 341 36.1%

Datin Seri Lo(2) 2926 Holdings Interest of spouse 604 63.9%

Notes:

(1) Interests in shares stated above represent long positions.

(2) Datin Seri Lo is the spouse of Dato’ Seri Chan and is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the Shares which Dato’ Seri 
Chan is interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and CEO had any interest or short position in the 
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the SFO) which are recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable 
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or other body 
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme on 14 December 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The terms of 
the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The following is a 
summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(A) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for their 
contribution to the Group.

(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The participants of the Share Option Scheme shall be:

(1) any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of the Company, and any of the subsidiaries;

(2) any director (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Company 
and any of the subsidiaries; and

(3) any consultant, advisers of the Company and any of the subsidiaries.
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(C) Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all 
share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company 
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of issued shares as at 21 January 2020 unless the Company 
obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders.

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, a total of 200,000,000 share options, representing approximately 
9.69% of the issued share capital of the Company upon full exercise, are available for issue under the Share Option 
Scheme.

(D) Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and 
including the date of grant of the options must not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.

Each grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their 
respective associates, is subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, 
any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or to any of their 
associates, resulting in the Shares issued and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and 
outstanding) to such person, in a 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of 
the Shares in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of the grant) 
in excess of HK$5 million, is subject to Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting of the Company.

(E) The period within which the Shares must be taken up under an option

The period during which an option may be exercised is determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such 
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of grant.

(F) The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised

As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

(G) The amount payable an acceptance of an option and the period within which payments shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option where the grantee should accept 
or decline the offer of grant of an option within the date as specified in the offer letter issued by the Company, being 
a date not later than five business days from the date upon which it is made.

(H) The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a 
price determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and notified to an eligible person, and shall be at least the 
higher of: (1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of 
grant, (2) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 
five consecutive business days immediately preceding the date of grant, and (3) the nominal value of a share on the 
date of grant.
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(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 21 January 2020 until 20 
January 2030.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its 
adoption, and there is no outstanding share option as at 31 December 2023 and at the date of this annual report.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the corporations or 
persons (other than a Director or CEO) had interests of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying Shares which fell to be 
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Name Capacity
Number of 

shares held(1)

Approximate 
percentage of the 

issued shares    

2926 Holdings(2) Beneficial owner and interests held jointly 
with another person

1,343,686,000 65.10%

Notes:

(1) Interests in shares stated above represent long positions.

(2) Please refer to notes (2) and (3) under the heading of “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, 
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no other person (other than a Director or CEO) had registered an 
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company which fell to be disclosed to the 
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements and in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected 
Transactions”, there is no contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow 
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end 
of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”, the significant related party transactions 
that did not constitute connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules made during the Reporting Period 
were disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPETING INTEREST

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, none of the Directors or their respective associates 
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had an interest in a business, which competes or may compete with the business of the 
Group.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

2926 Holdings, Dato’ Seri Chan and Dato’ Kwan (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”), being the controlling 
shareholders of the Company, entered into the deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) on 14 December 
2019 in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for and on behalf of its subsidiaries). Details of the Deed of 
Non-competition are set out in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders – Non-competition 
Undertakings” of the prospectus of the Company dated 30 December 2019. Each of the Controlling Shareholders has given 
written declaration to the Company and has confirmed to the Company of their respective due compliance with the terms of 
the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting Period.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the declarations made by the Controlling Shareholders regarding 
the compliance of the Deed of Non-competition and were satisfied that the terms of the Deed of Non-competition had been 
duly complied with and enforced during the Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of market trends and the 
individuals’ merit, qualifications and competence.

The Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable 
market statistics, made recommendations to the Board for all remuneration of the executive Directors and senior 
management of the Company.

There was no forfeited contribution available to reduce the contribution payable under the defined contribution retirement 
scheme.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details are set out 
in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in 
notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 
during the Reporting Period and up to date of this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association although there is no restriction against such 
rights under the laws in the Cayman Islands.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted the following continuing connected transactions:

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2021 (the “CCT Announcement”), the following 
transactions of the Group constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company.

Lease of property by Infinity Shipping (MY) Sdn. Bhd. (“Infinity Shipping (MY)”)

On 31 December 2021, Infinity Shipping (MY) as landlord and Infinity Logistics & Transport Sdn. Bhd. (“Infinity L&T 
(MY)”), an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant entered into a lease agreement for the leasing of a 
property located at No. 2 and 4 Jalan Kasuarina 8, Bandar Botanic, 41200 Klang, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia for a 
term commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2023 (with an option to renew the lease for one year from 1 
January 2024 to 31 December 2024) at a monthly rent of RM15,000 (the “Lease Agreement”). The property is used as an 
administrative and operational headquarter for logistics and transport services.

The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Lease Agreement will be RM180,000, RM180,000 and 
RM180,000 respectively for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of transaction conducted under the Lease Agreement was RM180,000.

Purchase of cardboard containers from Lite Bulk Sdn. Bhd. (“Lite Bulk”)

On 31 December 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) entered into a master purchase 
agreement with Lite Bulk, pursuant to which the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) agreed to 
purchase cardboard containers on a non-exclusive basis from Lite Bulk (the “Master Purchase Agreement”). Under the 
Master Purchase Agreement, the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) can from time to time place 
purchase order with Lite Bulk, which shall set out, inter alia, the quantity, description of products and the purchase price.

The terms of the Master Purchase Agreement with Lite Bulk commenced on 1 January 2022 and will expire on 31 
December 2024. Either party may terminate the Master Purchase Agreement by serving a notice of not less than three 
months to the other.

The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Master Purchase Agreement will not exceed RM54,000, 
RM54,000 and RM54,000 respectively for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of transaction conducted under the Master Purchase Agreement was RM Nil.
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Supply of freight forward services to Lite Bulk

On 31 December 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) entered into a master supply 
agreement with Lite Bulk, pursuant to which the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) agreed to 
provide freight forwarding services on a non-exclusive basis to Lite Bulk (the “Master Supply Agreement”). Under the 
Master Supply Agreement, Lite Bulk shall from time to time place service order to the Group, which shall set out, inter alia, 
description of the service required, term of payment and the service fee.

The terms of the Master Supply Agreement with Lite Bulk commenced on 1 January 2022 and will expire on 31 December 
2024. Either party may terminate the Master Supply Agreement by serving a notice of not less than three months to the 
other.

The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Master Supply Agreement will not exceed RM116,000, 
RM116,000 and RM116,000 respectively for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of transaction conducted under the Master Supply Agreement was RM Nil.

As each of Dato’ Seri Chan and Dato’ Kwan is holding more than 30% shareholding interest in Infinity Shipping (MY) and 
Lite Bulk, Infinity Shipping (MY) and Lite Bulk are therefore considered as an associate of each of Dato’ Seri Chan and 
Dato’ Kwan and a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Purchase of freight forward services from Qingdao Infinity Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd (“Qingdao Infinity”)

On 31 December 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) entered into a master purchase 
agreement with Qingdao Infinity, pursuant to which the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) 
agreed to engage Qingdao Infinity for the provision of freight forwarding services in the PRC on a non-exclusive basis (the 
“Master Purchase Agreement I”). Under the Master Purchase Agreement I, the Group can from time to time place service 
order to Qingdao Infinity, which shall set out, inter alia, description of the service required, term of payment and the service 
fee.

The terms of the Master Purchase Agreement I with Qingdao Infinity commenced on 1 January 2022 and will expire on 31 
December 2024. Either party may terminate the Master Purchase Agreement by serving a notice of not less than three 
months to the other.

The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Master Purchase Agreement I will not exceed RM4,800,000, 
RM5,520,000 and RM6,348,000 respectively for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of transaction conducted under the Master Purchase Agreement I was 
RM288,000.

Sales of packaging materials to Qingdao Infinity

On 31 December 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) entered into a master supply 
agreement with Qingdao Infinity, pursuant to which the Company (for itself and on behalf of other Group companies) 
agreed to supply packaging material on a non-exclusive basis to Qingdao Infinity (the “Master Supply Agreement I”). 
Under the Master Supply Agreement I, Qingdao Infinity can from time to time place purchase order to the Group, which 
shall set out, inter alia, the quantity, description of the product and the purchase price.

The terms of the Master Supply Agreement I with Qingdao Infinity commenced on 1 January 2022 and will expire on 31 
December 2024. Either party may terminate the Master Purchase Agreement by serving a notice of not less than three 
months to the other.
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The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Master Supply Agreement I will not exceed RM776,000, 
RM854,000 and RM939,000 respectively for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of transaction conducted under the Master Supply Agreement I was RM Nil.

Mr. Teo Guan Kee (“Mr. Teo”) is a director of four of the subsidiaries of the Group and hence a connected person of the 
Company at subsidiary level. As Mr. Teo is holding more than 30% shareholding interest in Qingdao Infinity. Qingdao 
Infinity is therefore considered as an associate of Mr. Teo and a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.

Save as the continuing connected transactions of 1) lease of property; 2) purchase of cardboard containers; 3) supply of 
freight forward services; and 4) sales of packaging materials which are exempt from the annual review under Listing Rules, 
the Board engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the continuing 
connected transactions of purchase of freight forward services (the “Disclosed CCTs”) pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the 
Listing Rules. The auditor has confirmed that nothing has come to the auditor attention that causes them to believe that:–

1. the Disclosed CCTs have not been approved by the Board;

2. the transactions were not conducted, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if 
applicable);

3. the transactions were not conducted, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreement governing 
such transactions; and

4. the Disclosed CCTs have exceeded the relevant maximum aggregate annual cap amount disclosed in the CCT 
Announcement.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that 
the transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the 
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements for those related party transactions which constituted 
connected transactions in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, (i) the aggregate revenue from the Group’s five largest customers and largest customer 
accounted for approximately 23.1% (2022: approximately 19.7%) and approximately 9.5% (2022: approximately 5.2%), 
respectively, of the Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Period; and (ii) purchases from the Group’s five largest 
suppliers and largest supplier accounted for approximately 20.9% (2022: approximately 16.7%) and approximately 5.3% 
(2022: approximately 5.1%), respectively, of the Group’s total cost of services and goods sold for the Reporting Period.

None of the Directors, their associate or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of 
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 144 
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based 
on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the 
Company’s shares.

AUDITORS

Kreston John & Gan (“Kreston”), Chartered Accountants, has been appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect 
from 16 November 2023 upon the resignation of Mazars CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants and Mazars LLP, Public 
Accountants and Chartered Accountants with effect from 2 October 2023. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Kreston. Kreston will retire as the auditor of the 
Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for re-appointment of Kreston as the auditor 
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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To the members of
Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 143, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 31 
December 2023, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have 
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Expected credit loss (“ECL”) assessment of trade 
receivables

At 31 December 2023, the gross amount of trade 
receivables and i ts re lated al lowance for ECL 
amounted to approximately RM72,671,000 and 
approximately RM1,565,000, respectively.

At each reporting date, the management of the Group 
est imates the amount of l i fet ime ECL of t rade 
receivables based on provision matrix that is based 
on historical data and is adjusted for forward-looking 
information of respective trade receivables.

The management of the Group believes that they have 
considered reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost and 
effort for this purpose. Such assessment has taken 
the quantitative and qualitative historical information 
and also, the forward-looking analysis.

W e  h a v e  i d e n t i f i e d  t h e  m a n a g e m e n t ’ s  E C L 
assessment of trade receivables as a key audit matter 
because the carrying amount of trade receivables was 
significant to the consolidated financial statements 
and the ECL assessment of these balances required 
significant judgement and involved high level of 
uncertainty.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 19 and 
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures, among others, included:

a) obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit risk 
management and practices and assessing the Group’s 
impairment provisioning policy in accordance with the 
requirements of applicable accounting standards;

b) assessing and challenging the application of impairment 
methodology of ECL, and checking the assumptions and 
key parameters to external data sources where available, 
on a sample basis;

c) assessing and chal lenging the reasonableness and 
relevancy of the external information used by the Group as 
the forward-looking information;

d) testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing 
categories of trade receivables based on relevant delivery 
notes, sales invoices and sales contracts; and

e) checking the calculation of ECL based on the methodology 
adopted by the Group and the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures in relation to credit risk exposed by the Group 
in the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the 2023 annual report of the Company but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGE WITH GOVERNANCE FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

A U D I T O R S’ R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S F O R T H E A U D I T O F T H E C O N S O L I D A T E D 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a auditors’ report that includes our opinion. This 
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We 
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the directors of the 
Company and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Thien Tze Vui.

Kreston John & Gan
(AF 0113)
Chartered Accountants

Thien Tze Vui
Approval No: – 03653/04/2024 J
Chartered Accountant
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Notes RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 5 371,105 356,870

Cost of services and goods sold (302,164) (280,234)    

Gross profit 68,941 76,636

Other income 6 536 3,473
Administrative and other operating expenses (32,567) (36,530)
Provision for loss allowance of trade receivables, net 30 (165) (922)
Finance costs 7 (12,245) (8,800)
Share of results of associates 16 15 16    

Profit before tax 7 24,515 33,873

Income tax (expenses) credit 10 (6,136) 2,009    

Profit for the year 18,379 35,882    

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of the Company’s financial 

statements to presentation currency 10,979 6,331

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on consolidation (3,301) 343    

Other comprehensive income for the year 7,678 6,674    

Total comprehensive income for the year 26,057 42,556    

Profit (Loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 18,391 36,018
Non-controlling interests (12) (136)    

18,379 35,882    

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 26,069 42,692
Non-controlling interests (12) (136)    

26,057 42,556    

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company
Basic and diluted 11 RM0.89 sen RM1.75 sen    



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 79

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Notes RM’000 RM’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 347,960 362,890
Club membership 168 90
Goodwill 15 11,611 –
Interest in associates 16 590 575
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 14 59,200 4,361    

419,529 367,916    

Current assets
Inventories 17 25,411 21,193
Asset classified as held for sale 18 10,440 –
Trade and other receivables 19 143,172 130,584
Income tax recoverable 4,825 3,609
Restricted bank balances 20 40 40
Bank balances and cash 50,769 39,572    

234,657 194,998    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 78,249 50,888
Bank overdrafts 22 14,308 14,776
Interest-bearing borrowings 22 23,393 10,646
Lease liabilities 23 15,417 18,166    

131,367 94,476    

Net current assets 103,290 100,522    

Total assets less current liabilities 522,819 468,438    

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 22 104,693 72,474
Lease liabilities 23 73,806 87,471
Deferred tax liabilities 24 4,645 180    

183,144 160,125    

NET ASSETS 339,675 308,313    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 25 10,866 10,866
Reserves 27 323,394 297,325    

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 334,260 308,191
Non-controlling interests 5,415 122    

TOTAL EQUITY 339,675 308,313    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 143 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 25 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

(Note 25) (Note 27(a)) (Note 27(b)) (Note 27(c))

Year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022 10,866 109,572 6,689 961 137,411 265,499 – 265,499         

Profit (Loss) for the year – – – – 36,018 36,018 (136) 35,882         

Other comprehensive income
Item that will not be reclassified 

to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on 

translation of the Company’s 
financial statements to 
presentation currency – – – 6,331 – 6,331 – 6,331

Item that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on 
consolidation – – – 343 – 343 – 343         

Total comprehensive income 
(loss) for the year – – – 6,674 36,018 42,692 (136) 42,556         

Transaction with owners
Changes in ownership interests
Non-controlling interests arising 

from acquisition of a 
non-wholly owned subsidiary – – – – – – 258 258         

At 31 December 2022 10,866 109,572 6,689 7,635 173,429 308,191 122 308,313         
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
profits Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total equity
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

(Note 25) (Note 27(a)) (Note 27(b)) (Note 27(c))

Year ended 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023 10,866 109,572 6,689 7,635 173,429 308,191 122 308,313         

Profit (Loss) for the year – – – – 18,391 18,391 (12) 18,379         

Other comprehensive income 
(loss)

Item that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on 
translation of the Company’s 
financial statements to 
presentation currency – – – 10,979 – 10,979 – 10,979

Item that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on 
consolidation – – – (3,301) – (3,301) – (3,301)         

Total comprehensive (loss) 
income for the year – – – 7,678 18,391 26,069 (12) 26,057         

Transaction with owners
Changes in ownership interests
Non-controlling interests arising 

from acquisition of a 
non-wholly owned subsidiary – – – – – – 5,305 5,305         

At 31 December 2023 10,866 109,572 6,689 15,313 191,820 334,260 5,415 339,675         
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Notes RM’000 RM’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 24,515 33,873
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 25,713 20,576
Loss (Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 112 (1,627)
Loss on disposal of investment 10 –
Gain on lease modification (9) (847)
Provision of loss allowance of trade receivables, net 30 165 922
Share of results of associates (15) (16)
Bank interest income (56) (34)
Finance costs 12,245 8,800
Exchange differences 11,029 6,296    

Cash flows from operations before movements in working capital 73,709 67,493

Changes in working capital:
Inventories (4,431) (5,452)
Trade and other receivables (12,754) (17,172)
Trade and other payables 27,361 (5,212)    

Cash generated from operations 83,885 40,107

Income tax paid (3,868) (4,498)
Interest paid (12,245) (8,800)    

Net cash generated from operating activities 67,772 26,809    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 56 34
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a subsidiary (13,783) (407)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3,132) (62,414)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (59,200) (4,361)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 778 4,036
Proceeds from disposal of investment 35 –    

Net cash used in investing activities (75,246) (63,112)    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Inception of interest-bearing borrowings 58,852 43,961
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings (13,886) (6,528)
Repayment of lease liabilities (22,526) (17,648)
Restricted bank balances – (5)    

Net cash from financing activities 22,440 19,780    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14,966 (16,523)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the reporting period 24,796 41,010

Effect on exchange rate changes (3,301) 309    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the reporting period 36,461 24,796    

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash 50,769 39,572
Bank overdrafts (14,308) (14,776)    

36,461 24,796    
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries are collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 
7 March 2019. The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 21 January 2020 (the “Listing”). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the 
immediate and ultimate holding company is 2926 Holdings Limited (“2926 Holdings”), which is incorporated in the 
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). The ultimate controlling parties of the Group are Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew and 
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg (collectively referred to as the “Ultimate Controlling Parties”). The registered office of the 
Company is situated at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman 
Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is situated at Room 1910, 19th Floor, C C Wu Building, 302-308 
Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong and the Group’s headquarter is situated at No. 2, Jalan Kasuarina 8, Bandar 
Botanic, 41200 Klang, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the principle activities the subsidiaries of the 
Company are principally engaged in the provision of (i) integrated freight forwarding services; (ii) logistics centre 
and related services; (iii) land transportation services; (iv) flexitank solution and related services; and (v) fourth-party 
logistics (“4PL”) services. Further details of the Group’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), which collective term 
includes all applicable individual IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by 
the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial 
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Malaysian Ringgit (“RM”) and all amounts have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand (“RM’000”), unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies 
adopted in the 2022 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the new/revised IFRSs that are 
relevant to the Group and effective from the current year as set out below.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements is set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised IFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised IFRSs:

Amendments International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from  

a Single Transaction
Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules

The adoption of the above new/revised IFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current year had 
no significant effects on the results and financial position of the Group for the current and prior years.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is historical cost basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Company 
using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or 
at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of 
non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by 
IFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the Company and the 
non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest determined 
at the date when control is lost and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as would be 
required if the parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, 
joint venture or others as appropriate from the date when control is lost

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position as set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, the 
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced 
to its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of 
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those 
policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting, except when the 
investment or a portion thereof is classified as held for sale. Under the equity method, the investment is initially 
recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the investee’s net 
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising its share 
of further losses when the Group’s share of losses of the investee equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its 
interest in the investee, which includes any long term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net 
investment in the investee.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is measured at the excess of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree over the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the 
acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a separate asset and is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses, which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and determination of gain or 
loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed of the acquired business over the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree, if any, after 
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain purchase.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase 
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended 
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, 
over their estimated useful lives at the annual rate/useful lives as set out below from the date on which they are 
available for use and after taking into account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. Where 
parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a 
reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Right-of-use assets Shorter of assets useful lives or over the unexpired term of lease

Buildings 3%
Containers and tanks 20% – 50%
Furniture and fittings 20% – 50%
Computer and office equipment 20% – 50%
Motor vehicles 10% – 20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in 
profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings under construction. It is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction during the period of 
construction. Construction-in-progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment 
when the construction is completed and the asset is ready for use.

Club membership

The initial cost of acquiring club membership is capitalised. Club membership with indefinite useful lives is carried at 
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement 
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing component) are initially recognised at 
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are 
initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income; (iii) equity investment measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income; or (iv) measured at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified 
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing them, in which 
case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period following the 
change in the business model.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as 
at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation process are 
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, restricted bank balances and 
bank balances and cash.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation 
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at 
FVPL, transaction costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank overdrafts, interest-bearing borrowings and 
lease liabilities. All financial liabilities, except for financial liabilities at FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless the effect of 
discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under IFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at 
amortised cost which the impairment requirements apply in accordance with IFRS 9. Except for the specific 
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at 
an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the 
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are 
due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events 
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on the past due 
information of shared credit risk.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes 
as historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the 
financial instrument that meets any of the following criteria:

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay 
its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under IFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the 
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In particular, the following 
information is taken into account in the assessment:

• the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on the due dates;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if 
available);

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

• actual or expected changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have or may 
have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 
past due, except for the trade receivables from associates and related companies for which the Group has 
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

As detailed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s restricted bank balances and bank 
balances and cash are determined to have low credit risk.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under IFRS 9 (Continued)

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade and other receivables without a significant financing components or otherwise for which the Group applies 
the practical expedient not to account for the significant financing components, the Group applies a simplified 
approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date 
and has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidences that a financial asset is credit-impaired include 
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual 
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from 
the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities 
under the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate. Any 
subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid 
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Rental income

Rental income from properties is recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. For financial assets 
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) 
in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within IFRS 15

The Group adopts a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as follows:

(i) Integrated freight forwarding services

(ii) Logistics centre and related services

(iii) Land transportation services

(iv) Flexitank solution and related services

(v) 4PL services
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and 
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of 
transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

(a) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are 
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other 
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of the 
contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or 
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and 
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that the customer 
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in 
time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs, 
the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Integrated freight forwarding services, logistics centre and related services, land transportation services and 4PL 
services income are recognised over time when services are rendered.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Income from flexitank solution is recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the control of the 
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to customers and the title is 
passed.

4PL handling income is recognised at a point in time by the Group to the customers in respect of 4PL services at 
specific rates on the payment paid on behalf of the customers when the 4PL handling services are rendered, which 
generally coincides with the time when the payment is approved and made.

For revenue recognised over time under IFRS 15, provided the outcome of the performance obligation can be 
reasonably measured, the Group applies the input method (i.e. based on the proportion of the actual inputs 
deployed to date as compared to the estimated total inputs) to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction 
of the performance obligation because there is a direct relationship between the Group’s inputs and the transfer of 
control of goods or services to the customers and reliable information is available to the Group to apply the method. 
Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until such time that it can reasonably 
measure the outcome of the performance obligation.

The principal input applied in the input method for (i) integrated freight forwarding services; (ii) logistics centre and 
related services; (iii) land transportation services and (iv) 4PL services is cost incurred.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the customer or the Group is provided with a 
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in determining the transaction 
price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the time value of money. The effect of the 
significant financing component is recognised as an interest income or interest expense separately from revenue 
from contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with the rate that would be reflected in a separate 
financing transaction between the Group and its customer at contract inception by reference to, where appropriate, 
the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price of the goods or 
services to the amount paid in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the Group’s borrowing rates 
and other relevant creditworthiness information of the customer of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for 
the effect of the significant financing component if the period of financing is one year or less.

Performance obligation: warranties

Warranties associated with the provision of flexitank solution cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an 
assurance that the flexitank solution provided comply with agreed-upon specifications. Accordingly, the Group 
accounts for the warranties in accordance with IAS 37.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in the currency of RM, which is also the functional currency of the operating subsidiaries 
of the Group in Malaysia, and rounded to the nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated. The Company’s 
functional currency is Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented, are translated at the closing rate at 
the end of each reporting period;

• income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated at 
average exchange rate;

• all resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange differences arising from a 
monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a 
separate component of equity;

• on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 
operation and a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to the foreign operation that is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate component of equity is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised;

• on the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does not 
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the 
exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling 
interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

• on all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of associates that do not result in the Group 
losing significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of exchange 
differences recognised in the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, 
where applicable, other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition, is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold/utilised, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable 
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down or loss occurs. The 
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of other assets, other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of information to determine 
whether there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment, club membership, interest in associates and 
the Company’s investment in subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer 
exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on 
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversal of impairment loss is 
recognised as income in profit or loss immediately.

The accounting policy for recognition and reversal of the impairment loss for goodwill is stated in the accounting 
policy for goodwill in the earlier part of this note.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of 
those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures for which a 
provision has been recognised are charged against the related provision in the year in which the expenditures are 
incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount provided is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. Where the Group expects a provision to be 
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain.

Leases

The Group as lessee

The Group leases various properties, containers and motor vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed 
periods of 2 to 30 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different 
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may be used as 
security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset (included in property, plant and equipment) and corresponding liability 
at the date of which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between 
the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include 
the net present value of the following lease payments that are not paid:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 
terminate the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the followings:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentive received;

• any initial direct costs; and

• restoration costs unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture with individual value below 
RM20,000.

The Group has applied the practical expedient provided in Amendments to IFRS 16: COVID-19-Related Rent 
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 and does not assess whether eligible rent concessions occurring as a direct 
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease modification. The Group accounts for any change in lease 
payments resulting from the rent concession the same way it would account for the change applying IFRS 16 if the 
change were not a lease modification.

The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the covid-19 
pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met:

(a) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, 
or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient consistently to all eligible rent concessions with similar characteristics 
and in similar circumstances.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to certain of its property, plant and equipment, 
comprising warehouses, to other parties.

Rental income from leases is recognised in revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging a lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the 
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or 
loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently 
administered fund.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are 
non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of each reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other 
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and associates, except 
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group, that is defined as:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a holding company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each holding company, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also 
related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to a holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes 
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are 
identified from the financial information provided regularly to Group’s most senior executive management for the 
purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and 
geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of 
production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the 
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may 
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management of the Group in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an 
on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s property, plant and 
equipment based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of the relevant assets of similar nature 
and functions. The estimated useful lives could be different as a result of technical innovations which could 
affect the related depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines whether the Group’s property, plant and equipment are impaired 
when an indication of impairment exists. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the 
property, plant and equipment, which is equal to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use. Estimating the value in use requires the management of the Group to make an estimate of the expected 
future cash flows from the property, plant and equipment and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order 
to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged to profit or loss.

(iii) Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for trade and other receivables by using various 
inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The estimation involves high 
degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical information, existing market conditions as well 
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from the 
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other receivables.

(iv) Allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews the condition of inventories at the end of each reporting period and 
makes allowance for inventories that are identified as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable. The 
management of the Group carries out the inventory review on a product-by-product basis and makes 
allowances by reference to the latest market prices and current market conditions.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(v) Provision for leakage claims

The Group makes provisions under the leakage claims on the income from flexitank solution, under which 
faulty flexitanks are repaired, replaced or the leakage loss are claimed. The amount of provisions is 
estimated based on the past claims experience of the level of repairs, returns and leakage claims. The 
estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

(vi) Income taxes

Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain where the final tax outcome of these matters 
may be different from the amounts that were initially recorded and such differences will affect the income tax 
and deferred tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.

(vii) Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities – as lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to discount future lease payments since interest 
rates implicit in the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discounts rates for its leases, the 
Group refers to a rate that is readily observable as the starting point and then applies judgement and adjusts 
such observable rate to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

3. FUTURE CHANGES IN IFRSS

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued the following new/
revised IFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted:

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current [1]

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants [1]

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback [1]

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture [3]

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements [1] 

Amendments to IFRS 21 Lack of Exchangeability [2]

[1] Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
[2] Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
[3] The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/revised IFRSs in future periods will 
have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being identified as the chief operating decision 
makers (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on 
types of goods delivered or services rendered. No operating segments identified by the CODM have been 
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are as follows:

1) Integrated freight forwarding services segment: provision of non-vessel operating common carriers (“NVOCC”) 
and freight forwarding services;

2) Logistics centre and related services segment: provision of warehousing and container depot services;

3) Land transportation services segment: provision of land transportation services;

4) Flexitank solution and related services segment: provision of flexitank solution and related services; and

5) 4PL services segment: provision of 4PL services and 4PL handling services.

Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in 
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from provision of (i) integrated freight forwarding services; (ii) logistics 
centre and related services; (iii) land transportation services; (iv) flexitank solution and related services; and (v) 4PL 
services.

Segment results represent the gross profit incurred by each segment without allocation of other income, 
administrative and other operating expenses, reversal of loss allowance of trade receivables, finance costs, share of 
results of associates and income tax expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM of the Group for the 
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segments is presented as it is not regularly provided to 
the CODM for review.

In addition, the Group’s place of domicile is Malaysia, where the central management and control is located.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The followings are analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segments:

Integrated
freight

forwarding
services

Logistics
centre and

related
services

Land
transportation

services

Flexitank
solution and

related
services

4PL
services Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Year ended 31 December 2023
Revenue from contracts with 

customers within IFRS 15 90,492 75,695 70,869 114,300 13,035 364,391
Revenue from other source – 6,714 – – – 6,714       

90,492 82,409 70,869 114,300 13,035 371,105       

Segment results 20,286 19,286 2,160 20,721 6,488 68,941      

Unallocated income and expenses
Other income 536
Administrative and other operating 

expenses (32,567)
Provision of loss allowance of trade 

receivables, net (165)
Finance costs (12,245)
Share of results of associates 15 

Profit before tax 24,515

Income tax expenses (6,136) 

Profit for the year 18,379 

Other information:
Depreciation (Note i) 492 15,788 5,156 1,067 – 22,503
Provision for leakage claims – – – 307 – 307
Additions to property, plant and 

equipment (Note ii) 1,210 4,158 7,178 1,532 – 14,078
Payments made on behalf of a 

customer in respect of 4PL services 
(Note 19(b)) – – – – 47,396 47,396       
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Integrated
freight

forwarding
services

Logistics
centre and

related
services

Land
transportation

services

Flexitank
solution and

related
services

4PL
services Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Year ended 31 December 2022
Revenue from contracts with 

customers within IFRS 15 109,068 63,587 62,940 93,690 20,374 349,659
Revenue from other source – 7,211 – – – 7,211       

109,068 70,798 62,940 93,690 20,374 356,870       

Segment results 16,840 15,467 6,560 23,789 13,980 76,636      

Unallocated income and expenses
Other income 3,473
Administrative and other operating 

expenses (36,530)
Provision for loss allowance of trade 

receivables, net (922)
Finance costs (8,800)
Share of results of associates 16 

Profit before tax 33,873

Income tax credit 2,009 

Profit for the year 35,882 

Other information:
Depreciation (Note i) 873 12,156 3,614 858 – 17,501
Provision for leakage claims – – – 824 – 824
Additions to property, plant and 

equipment (Note ii) – 131,216 25,811 993 – 158,020
Payments made on behalf of a 

customer in respect of 4PL services 
(Note 19(b)) – – – – 50,774 50,774       



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 107

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Depreciation not included in the measure of segment results during the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to 
approximately RM3,210,000 (2022: RM3,075,000).

(ii) Additions to property, plant and equipment not allocated to the segments during the year ended 31 December 2023 
amounted to approximately RM2,248,000 (2022: RM7,131,000).

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of the Group’s revenue from external 
customers which are based on the location of customers.

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Revenue from external customers:
China 412 369
Indonesia 37,513 27,492
Malaysia 214,051 208,826
Netherlands 3,614 3,967
Singapore 68,880 65,476
South Korea 7,068 4,010
Thailand 13,948 23,860
Vietnam 3,016 2,990
Others 22,603 19,880   

371,105 356,870   

No geographical analysis on segment assets is provided as substantially all of the Group’s assets were located at 
Malaysia.

Information about major customers

No external customers individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during the years ended 31 
December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Revenue from contracts with customers within IFRS 15

Integrated freight forwarding services business
Air freight services income 6,727 3,145
Ocean freight services income 43,664 49,109
Forwarding services income 18,396 20,023
NVOCC services income 21,705 36,791   

90,492 109,068   

Logistics centre and related services business
Warehousing and container depot services income 75,695 63,587   

Land transportation services business
Income from land transportation 38,379 47,426
Landbridge transportation services income 13,844 8,901
Landfeeder transportation services income 18,646 6,613   

70,869 62,940   

Flexitank solution and related services business
Income from flexitank solution 114,300 93,690   

4PL services business
4PL handling income 165 1,065
4PL services income 12,870 19,309   

13,035 20,374   

364,391 349,659   

Revenue from other source

Logistics centre and related services business
Rental income from warehouses 6,714 7,211   

371,105 356,870   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE (Continued)

In addition to the information shown in segment disclosures, the revenue from contracts with customers within IFRS 
15 is disaggregated as follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Timing of revenue recognition:
– at a point in time

Income from flexitank solution 114,300 93,690
4PL handling income 165 1,065   

114,465 94,755   

– over time
Air freight services income 6,727 3,145
Ocean freight services income 43,664 49,109
Forwarding services income 18,396 20,023
NVOCC services income 21,705 36,791
Warehousing and container depot services income 75,695 63,587
Income from land transportation 38,379 47,426
Landbridge transportation services income 13,844 8,901
Landfeeder transportation services income 18,646 6,613
4PL services income 12,870 19,309   

249,926 254,904   

364,391 349,659   

6. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Bank interest income 56 34
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net – 1,627
Gain on lease modification 9 847
Sundry income 471 965   

536 3,473   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Finance costs
Interest on bank overdrafts 579 708
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 5,596 1,975
Interest on lease liabilities 6,070 6,117   

Total borrowing costs 12,245 8,800   

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
Salaries, allowances, bonus and other benefits in kinds 49,878 43,498
Contributions to defined contribution plans 4,790 4,649   

Total staff costs (charged to “cost of services and goods sold” and 
“administrative and other operating expenses” and included in “inventories”, 
as appropriate) 54,668 48,147   

Other items
Auditors’ remuneration

– Audit services 390 534
– Non-audit services – 117

Cost of inventories 93,579 69,901
Depreciation (charged to “cost of services and goods sold” and “administrative 

and other operating expenses”, as appropriate) 25,713 20,576
Realised exchange loss, net 93 2,320
Expenses recognised under short-term leases (charged to “cost of services and 

goods sold” and “administrative and other operating expenses”, as 
appropriate) (Note) 3,513 2,252

Expenses recognised under leases of low-value assets (charged to “cost of 
services and goods sold” and “administrative and other operating expenses”, 
as appropriate) (Note) 270 308

Legal and professional fees for a potential acquisition of a company – 1,043
Provision for leakage claims 307 824   

Note:

The Group does not recognise right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities under short term lease and lease of low-value 
assets during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and receivable by the directors of the Company are set out 
below.

Year ended 31 December 2023

Directors’
fees

Salaries,
allowances

and other 
benefits 
in kinds

Discretionary
bonus

Contributions
to defined

contribution
plans Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Executive directors
Dato Seri’ Chan Kong Yew – 2,622 768 64 3,454
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg – 620 433 64 1,117
Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping – 383 – 32 415
Mr. Yap Sheng Feng – 285 – – 285

Non-executive director
Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong 105 – – – 105

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Chi Keung 70 – – – 70
Mr. Tan Poay Teik 70 – – – 70
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica 70 – – – 70      

315 3,910 1,201 160 5,586      
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

Directors’
fees

Salaries,
allowances

and other 
benefits 
in kinds

Discretionary
bonus

Contributions
to defined

contribution
plans Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Executive directors
Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew – 2,143 1,940 73 4,156
Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg – 684 1,095 73 1,852
Datin Seri Lo Shing Ping – 406 – 37 443
Mr. Yap Sheng Feng – 234 – – 234

Non-executive director
Tan Sri Datuk Tan Jyh Yaong 101 – – – 101

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Chi Keung 67 – – – 67
Mr. Tan Poay Teik 67 – – – 67
Ms. Yeung Hoi Yan Monica 67 – – – 67      

302 3,467 3,035 183 6,987      

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to 
any of the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a 
compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive 
any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(b) Quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors of the Company that were entered 
into or subsisted during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(c) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

After consideration, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no transactions, arrangements and 
contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in 
which a director of the Company, or connected entity of the directors of the Company, had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31 December 2023 and 2022 or at any time during the 
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Number of individuals
2023 2022

Director 3 3
Non-director 2 2   

5 5   

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid non-director individuals are as follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kinds 481 605
Discretionary bonus 263 901
Contributions to defined contribution plans 62 74   

806 1,580   

The number of these non-director individuals whose emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is as 
follows:

Number of individuals
2023 2022

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2   

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to any of 
these highest paid non-director individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a 
compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which any of these highest paid non-director 
individuals waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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Year ended 31 December 2023

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CREDIT)

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Current tax
Malaysia CIT

Current year 3,199 3,152
Over-provision in prior years (1,221) (70)   

1,978 3,082   

Labuan CIT
Current year – –
Over-provision in prior years – (108)   

– (108)   

Deferred tax
Changes in temporary differences (Note 24) 4,158 (4,983)   

6,136 (2,009)   

The group entities established in the Cayman Islands and the BVI are exempted from corporate income tax (“CIT”) 
of those jurisdictions.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group had no assessable profits in Hong Kong for the years 
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Malaysia CIT is calculated at the rate of 24% (the “standard rate” in Malaysia) of the Group’s estimated assessable 
profits arising from Malaysia (except for Labuan) during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, Malaysian (except for Labuan) subsidiaries participating in a 
promoted activity or of producing a promoted product and intending that a factory be constructed, or where the 
factory is already in existence, be occupied in Malaysia for that purpose, are eligible to make application for pioneer 
status and investment tax allowance (the “ITA”). Malaysian (except for Labuan) subsidiaries under pioneer status 
were granted tax exemption on 70% of the statutory income for 5 years. The balance 30% of the statutory income 
will be taxed at the standard rate as detailed above. Malaysian (except for Labuan) subsidiaries under ITA were 
granted an allowance of 60% on its qualifying capital expenditures incurred within five years from the date the first 
qualifying capital expenditure is incurred and such allowance is allowed to offset against 70% of the statutory 
income until the allowance is fully utilised. Upon the time of the allowance is utilised, the balance 30% of the 
statutory income will be taxed at the standard rate as detailed above.

Infinity Bulk Logistics Sdn. Bhd. (MY) obtained the pioneer status effective from 5 January 2018. A pioneers status 
company is eligible for exemption from Malaysia CIT on eligible activities and products for 5 years since the 
effective date. The pioneer status has expired during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CREDIT) (Continued)

Infinity Logistics & Transport Sdn. Bhd. (MY) has obtained the ITA effective from 9 September 2021. An ITA 
company is eligible for offset the allowance from the qualifying capital expenditures with 70% of the statutory income 
since the effective date until the allowance is fully utilised.

CIT has not been provided for group entities incorporated in Labuan of Malaysia which had no chargeable profits for 
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: CIT was charged at 0% on the chargeable profits).

Singapore CIT is calculated at 17% of the assessable profits in Singapore for the years ended 31 December 2023 
and 2022. The Group’s entities incorporated in Singapore can also enjoy 75% tax exemption on the first Singapore 
Dollars (“SGD”)10,000 of normal chargeable income and a further 50% tax exemption on the next SGD190,000 of 
normal chargeable income for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. Singapore CIT has not been provided 
as the Group had no assessable profits in Singapore for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Reconciliation of income tax expenses (credit)

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Profit before tax 24,515 33,873   

Income tax at applicable tax rate 4,522 9,079
Non-deductible expenses 7,204 4,712
Tax exempt revenue (32) (314)
Tax incentive – (15,308)
Under-provision of deferred tax (4,337) –
Over-provision in prior years (1,221) (178)   

Income tax expenses (credit) 6,136 (2,009)   
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Year ended 31 December 2023

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following information:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company, used in basic and 
diluted earnings per share calculation 18,391 36,018   

Number of shares
2023 2022

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and diluted earnings per 
share calculation 2,064,000,000 2,064,000,000   

Diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per share as there are no dilutive potential ordinary 
shares in existence during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

12. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2023 (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

13. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries
Place and date of 
incorporation

Particulars of 
paid up capital/
registered capital

Attributable 
equity interest 

held by the Company
Principal activities and 
place of operation

2023 2022

Directly held by the Company:
ILNT 2926 Ventures Limited The BVI,  

19 February 2019
United States Dollars 
(“US$”) 1,000

100% 100% Investment holding, Malaysia

IBL 2926 Ventures Limited The BVI,  
19 February 2019

US$1,000 100% 100% Investment holding, Malaysia

Crest Global Holdings Limited The BVI,  
15 September 2021

US$100 100% 100% Investment holding, Malaysia

Indirectly held by the Company:
Infinity Logistics & Transport 

Holding Sdn. Bhd. (MY)
Malaysia,  
25 January 2019

RM2 100% 100% Investment holding, Malaysia

Infinity L&T (MY) Malaysia, 
7 November 2000

RM4,940,001 100% 100% Integrated freight forwarding 
services, logistics centre and 
related services, land 
transportation services, 4PL 
services and investment holding, 
Malaysia

Infinity Lines Sdn. Bhd. (MY) 
(“Infinity Lines (MY)”)

Malaysia,  
3 October 2003

RM500,000 100% 100% Freight forwarder and shipping 
agent services, Malaysia

Supply Stream Management  
Sdn. Bhd. (MY)

Malaysia,  
18 September 2001

RM300,000 100% 100% Freight forwarder and depot 
services, Malaysia

Infinity Logistics & Transport (S) 
Pte. Ltd. (SG)

Singapore,  
8 November 2010

SGD2 100% 100% Freight forwarder, packing and 
crating services, Singapore
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Name of subsidiaries
Place and date of 
incorporation

Particulars of 
paid up capital/
registered capital

Attributable 
equity interest 

held by the Company
Principal activities and 
place of operation

2023 2022

Indirectly held by the Company:
KNS Infinity Sdn. Bhd. (MY) Malaysia, 28 March 

2011
RM300,000 100% 100% Holding property for own use, 

Malaysia

Infinity Logistics & Transport 
Limited (Labuan)

Labuan, 9 May 
2014

US$2 100% 100% Sales of containers, Labuan

Infinity Flexitank Holding Sdn. 
Bhd. (MY)

Malaysia, 19 
February 2019

RM2 100% 100% Investment holding, Malaysia

Infinity Bulk Logistics (MY) Malaysia, 24 March 
2003

RM1,000,000 100% 100% Flexitank solution and related 
services and bulk logistics 
services, Malaysia

Infinity Bulk Logistics Limited 
(Labuan)

Labuan, 12 May 
2014

US$10,000 100% 100% Flexitank solution and related 
services, Labuan

Optimus Flexitank Solutions Sdn. 
Bhd. (MY)

Malaysia, 7 January 
2004

RM100,000 100% 100% Freight forwarder and haulage 
services, Malaysia

Solution Global Holdings Limited 
(BVI)

The BVI, 14 
December 2021

US$100 100% 100% Inactive, Malaysia

Infinity Landbridge Express Sdn. 
Bhd. (MY)

Malaysia, 22 March 
2013

RM1,432,500 70% 70% Integrated freight forwarding 
services, logistics centre and 
related services and land 
transportation services, Malaysia

Myfreight Sdn. Bhd. (“Myfreight”) 
(Note 1)

Malaysia, 28 April 
2023

RM100,000 70% N/A Forwarding of freight, Malaysia

Flexitank Solutions Pte Ltd 
(“Flexitank Solutions”)  
(Note 2)

Singapore, 16 
March 2022

SGD 200,000 100% N/A Wholesale trade of variety of goods 
without a dominant product and 
freight transport arrangement, 
Singapore

Trust Flexitanks, SL (“Trust”) 
(Note 3)

Spain, 17 January 
2012

EURO 50,000 80% N/A Manufacture, sale and distribution 
of packaging materials for the 
transport of bulk products, Spain

Note 1: On 25 July 2023, the Group acquired 70% of equity interest in Myfreight, which is principally engaged in forwarding of 
freight in Malaysia for cash consideration of approximately RM70,000.

Note 2: On 29 December 2023, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Flexitank Solutions, which is principally engaged in 
wholesale trade of variety of goods without a dominant product and freight transport arrangement in Singapore for cash 
consideration of approximately RM16,806,000 (USD3,626,000)

Note 3: On 24 April 2023, Flexitank Solutons acquired 80% of equity interest in Trust, which is principally engaged in manufacture, 
sale and distribution of packaging materials for the transport of bulk products in Spain for cash consideration of 
approximately RM16,220,000 (USD3,533,880).

13. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-
use assets Buildings

Containers 
and tanks

Furniture 
and fittings

Computer 
and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction-
in-progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
(Note 23)

Reconciliation of carrying amounts 
– year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022 86,817 50,093 4,850 1,672 6,954 24,907 44,904 220,197
Additions 85,157 47,934 2,272 419 4,880 7,550 16,939 165,151
Additions through acquisition of a 

subsidiary – – 2 51 54 420 – 527
Depreciation (8,618) (3,518) (1,158) (712) (3,058) (3,512) – (20,576)
Disposals/Write-off – (2,181) (129) – (90) (9) – (2,409)
Transfers – 59,664 – – 105 – (59,769) –         

At 31 December 2022 163,356 151,992 5,837 1,430 8,845 29,356 2,074 362,890         

Reconciliation of carrying amounts 
– year ended 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023 163,356 151,992 5,837 1,430 8,845 29,356 2,074 362,890
Additions 2,958 188 2,705 7,157 2,271 384 663 16,326
Additions through acquisition of a 

subsidiary – 1,057 56 – 2,421 364 4,173 8,071
Depreciation (11,030) (6,187) (1,283) (919) (3,396) (2,898) – (25,713)
Disposals/Write-off – – (163) – (17) 859 – (1,039)
Transfers 2,070 – 151 103 230 (2,554) – –
Lease modification (2,135) – – – – – – (2,135)
Reclassified as held for sale – – – – – (10,440) – (10,440)         

At 31 December 2023 155,219 147,050 7,303 7,771 10,354 13,353 6,910 347,960         

At 31 December 2022
Cost 192,782 166,275 18,975 3,763 20,641 49,466 2,074 453,976
Accumulated depreciation (29,426) (14,283) (13,138) (2,333) (11,796) (20,110) – (91,086)         

Net carrying amounts 163,356 151,992 5,837 1,430 8,845 29,356 2,074 362,890         

At 31 December 2023
Cost 187,248 167,584 22,250 10,892 26,780 35,522 6,910 457,186
Accumulated depreciation (32,029) (20,534) (14,947) (3,121) (16,426) (22,169) – (109,226)         

Net carrying amounts 155,219 147,050 7,303 7,771 10,354 13,353 6,910 347,960         

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s leasehold lands (included in right-of-use assets) with aggregate net carrying 
amount of approximately RM32,405,000 (2022: RM32,754,000) were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the 
Group (Note 22).

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately RM77,506,000 (2022: 
RM80,335,000) were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group (Note 22).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group paid deposits amounting to approximately RM59,200,000 
(2022: RM4,361,000) for the acquisition of motor vehicles and construction work.
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15. GOODWILL

Goodwill 
on 

consolidation

Integrated 
Freight 

Forwarding 
Services CGU

RM’000 RM’000

Reconciliation of carrying amounts
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023  

31 December 2023 11,611 –   

Cost – 286
Addition 11,611 –
Accumulated impairment loss – (286)   

At 31 December 2023 11,611 –   

Goodwill of RM11,611,000 arising from the acquisition of 80% of equity interest in Trust Flexitanks, SL, on 29 
December 2023.

Goodwill of RM286,000 (gross amount) arising from the integrated freight forwarding services business (the 
“Integrated Freight Forwarding Services CGU”) represented the acquisition of 100% equity interests in Infinity Lines 
(MY) at an aggregated consideration of RM1,025,000 in November 2007. The excess of fair value of the 
consideration transferred over the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed of approximately RM286,000 is recognised as goodwill and was fully impaired in prior years.

16. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Share of net assets 590 575   
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16. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the associates at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

Name of the associates

Principal place 
of business and 
place of 
incorporation

Registered and 
paid-up capital

Proportion of value of 
registered and paid-up 
capital indirectly held 

by the Company Principal activities
2023 2022

Asia Global Connection NP 
Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia RM100,000 40% 40% Depot and transport 
handling services

Emirates Supply Chain 
Services Sdn. Bhd. 
(“Emirates Supply  
Chain (MY)”)

Malaysia RM500,000 30% 30% Depot and transport 
handling services

Ideal Dragon Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM625,000 40% 40% Investment holding

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method. There are no capital commitment and 
contingent liabilities in relation to the associates themselves.

Relationship with associates

The associates are principally engaged in logistics related business and do not directly and significantly compete 
with the Group’s business.

Fair value of investments

All of the above associates are private companies and there is no quoted market price available for the investments.

Financial information of individually immaterial associates

The table below shows, in aggregate, the carrying amount and the Group’s share of results of associates that are 
not individually material and accounted for using the equity method.

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Carrying amount of interests, mainly represented by bank balances and cash, 
trade receivables and trade payables of the associates 590 575   

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Group’s share of:
Profit 15 16   
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17. INVENTORIES

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Raw materials 17,607 14,546
Finished goods 7,784 6,647
Work in progress 20 –   

25,411 21,193   

18. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Current
Property, plant and equipment 10,440 –   

As at 31 December 2023, asset held for sale referred to a locomotive under property, plant and equipment. The 
transaction that resulted in the reclassification of asset held for sale at 31 December 2023 is expected to be 
completed during the course of 2024.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
Notes RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables
From third parties 72,671 70,840
From related companies – 145    

72,671 70,985
Less: Loss allowance 30 (1,565) (1,400)    

19(a) 71,106 69,585    

Other receivables
Deposits paid 2,587 2,521
Payments made on behalf of a customer in respect of 4PL services 19(b) 47,396 50,774
Other receivables 4,872 2,122
Prepayments 17,211 5,582    

72,066 60,999    

143,172 130,584    
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

All of the trade and other receivables that are classified as current assets are expected to be recovered or 
recognised as expense within one year.

19(a) Trade receivables

The trade receivables from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and with credit period ranged from 30 
to 60 days.

The Group grants credit period ranged from 7 to 60 days from the date of issuance of invoices to its 
customers.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date at the end of each reporting period is as 
follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Within 30 days 27,827 32,289
31 to 90 days 33,604 16,687
Over 90 days 11,240 22,009   

72,671 70,985
Less: Loss allowance (1,565) (1,400)   

71,106 69,585   

19(b) Payments made on behalf of a customer in respect of 4PL services

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the amounts represented the payments specifically made on behalf of a 
customer under 4PL services business for the purchase of certain commodities by the customer in the 
ordinary course of 4PL services business. The amounts are repayable from the customer within the credit 
period of 14 days and are collateralised and secured by the commodities with market value which is not 
materially different from the payments made on behalf of a customer. In the opinion of the management of 
the Group, the Group did not entitle to the commodities as the Group solely acts as an agent on behalf of the 
customer and has no rights of direction to the commodities.

The management of the Group expected the credit risk in respect of the payments is minimal after taking into 
account the value of collaterals held. In the event of default, the Group retrieves the collaterals. Besides, the 
management of the Group closely monitors the payments and considers no forward-looking factors that give 
rise to significant default risk on the payments at the end of the reporting period. Save as aforementioned, 
the management of the Group estimates that any ECL against for these amounts is considered to be 
insignificant at the end of the reporting period.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

19(b) Payments made on behalf of a customer in respect of 4PL services (Continued)

The management of the Group assessed that the payments contain no significant financing component which 
the customer is provided with no significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods and services provided. 
As of the period of financing is less than one year and the payment is collateralised and secured, the Group 
applies the practical expedient and does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations 
that have original expected durations of one year or less.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance for trade and other receivables is 
included in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

20. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

Pursuant to the bank guarantee agreements signed with a bank in Malaysia, the amounts represent deposits in the 
bank in Malaysia maintained solely for the issuance of bank guarantee to the extent of approximately RM 40,000 at 
31 December 2023 (2022: RM40,000) to suppliers and are restricted for use by the Group for any other purposes. 
The restricted bank balances are denominated in RM. None of the bank guarantee was utilised by the Group at 31 
December 2023 and 2022.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022
Notes RM’000 RM’000

Trade payables
To third parties 39,733 25,094
To related companies 281 148    

21(a) 40,014 25,242    

Other payables
Accruals and other payables

– Salary and other benefit payable 4,214 1,883
– Bonus payable 7,728 6,537
– Other accruals and other payable 17,460 5,366

Other payables for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 5,100 11,004
Provision for leakage claims 21(b) 930 856
Amount due to directors 2,803 –    

38,235 25,646    

78,249 50,888    



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited 125

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

21(a) Trade payables

The trade payables to third parties are interest free with normal credit terms up to 30 days.

The trade payables to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and with credit period of 30 days.

At the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date is as 
follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Within 30 days 23,694 19,752
31 to 90 days 12,247 3,433
Over 90 days 4,073 2,057   

40,014 25,242   

21(b) Provision for leakage claims

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 856 525
Provision 307 824
Utilisation (233) (493)   

At the end of the reporting period 930 856   

In the ordinary course of business, the Group will rectify any defects arising within two years from the date of 
provision of flexitank solution and related services. Provision is therefore made for the best estimate of the 
expected settlement under these agreements in respect of provision of flexitank solution and related services 
made within two years prior to the end of each reporting period. The amount of provision takes into account 
the Group’s recent claims experience.
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22. BANK OVERDRAFTS AND INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

At the end of the reporting period, the details of the bank overdrafts and interest-bearing borrowings of the Group 
are as follows:

2023 2022
Notes RM’000 RM’000

Bank overdrafts – secured 22(a) 14,308 14,776
Interest-bearing borrowings – secured 22(b) 128,086 83,120    

142,394 97,896    

22(a) Bank overdrafts – secured

2023 2022  
Interest rate

 (%) RM’000
Interest rate 

(%) RM’000

Bank overdrafts – secured

Base 
financing 
rate + 4% 

per annum 14,308

Base 
financing 

rate + 4% 
per annum 14,776     

22(b) Interest-bearing borrowings

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the interest-bearing borrowings represent amounts due to various banks 
which are repayable ranging from within one year to over five years.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the weighted average effective interest rate on interest-bearing borrowings 
was approximately 5.05% (2022: approximately 3.66%) per annum, respectively.

At the end of each reporting period, details of the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group are as follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Interest-bearing borrowings – secured
– Current portion 23,393 10,646
– Non-current portion 104,693 72,474   

128,086 83,120   
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22. BANK OVERDRAFTS AND INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)

22(b) Interest-bearing borrowings (Continued)

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Carrying amounts of the above borrowings are repayable:
Within one year 23,393 10,646
From two to five years 61,930 37,931
Over five years 42,763 34,543   

128,086 83,120
Less: amounts shown under current liabilities (23,393) (10,646)   

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 104,693 72,474   

At 31 December 2023, the bank overdrafts and interest-bearing borrowings are secured by:

(i) leasehold lands (included in right-of-uses assets) owned by the Group with aggregate net carrying 
amount of approximately RM32,405,000 (2022: RM32,754,000) as set out in Note 14 to the 
consolidated financial statements;

(ii) buildings owned by the Group with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately RM77,506,000 
(2022: RM80,335,000) as set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements;

(iii) a building owned by a related company ultimately controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Parties (2022: 
a building owned by a related company ultimately controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Parties); and

(iv) guarantees provided by the Company (2022: guarantees provided by the Company).

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain subsidiaries’ financial 
ratios based on their statements of financial position, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with 
financial institutions. If the subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would 
become repayable on demand. At 31 December 2023 and 2022, none of the covenants relating to drawn 
down facilities had been breached.
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23. LEASES

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Right-of-use assets (Note 14)
Leased properties 75,703 82,794
Leasehold lands 36,035 36,433
Containers 6,675 5,291
Office equipment 5,973 3,836
Motor vehicles 30,833 35,002   

155,219 163,356   

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Lease liabilities
Current 15,417 18,166
Non-current 73,806 87,471   

89,223 105,637   

In addition to the information disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the 
following amounts relating to leases during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Leased properties 4,956 5,117
Leasehold lands 398 398
Containers 763 376
Office equipment 762 498
Motor vehicles 4,151 2,229   

11,030 8,618   

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the total cash outflow for leases was approximately 
RM11,831,000 and RM26,325,000, respectively.
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23. LEASES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has lease modification for two leased properties located in 
Malaysia which resulted in a gain on lease modification of approximately RM8,550 recognised in the profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has early terminated a lease for a leased property located in 
Malaysia which resulted in a gain on termination of lease of approximately RM847,000 recognised in the profit or 
loss.

Below is a maturity analysis of lease payments and the reconciliation of present value of lease payments to the 
lease liabilities:

Lease payments Present value of lease payments  
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Amounts payable:
Within one year 19,526 23,504 15,417 18,166
More than one year, but not exceeding two 

years 8,902 17,045 1,357 12,472
More than two years, but not exceeding five 

years 15,577 18,375 8,467 5,206
After five years 139,860 147,392 63,982 69,793     

183,865 206,316 89,223 105,637

Less: future finance charges (94,642) (100,679) – –     

Total lease liabilities 89,223 105,637 89,223 105,637     
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement in the Group’s deferred tax liabilities arising from depreciation allowance for the years ended 31 
December 2023 and 2022 was as follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 180 5,163
Acquisition of subsidiary company 307 –
Charged (Credited) to profit or loss (Note 10) 4,158 (4,983)   

At the end of the reporting period 4,645 180   

25. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares HK$

Equivalent 
to RM

Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and  

31 December 2023 15,000,000,000 150,000,000 80,213,900    

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and  
31 December 2023 2,064,000,000 20,640,000 10,865,975    
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the statement of financial position 
of the Company and the movement in its reserves is set out below:

2023 2022
Notes RM’000 RM’000

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries –* –*    

Current assets
Other receivables 240 231
Amounts due from subsidiaries 26(a) 116,064 118,113
Bank balances and cash 788 590    

117,092 118,934    

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 8,361 7,298
Amounts due to subsidiaries 26(a) 4 11    

8,365 7,309    

NET ASSETS 108,727 111,625    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 25 10,866 10,866
Reserves 26(b) 97,861 100,759    

TOTAL EQUITY 108,727 111,625    

* Represents assets less than RM1,000

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 25 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by

Dato’ Seri Chan Kong Yew Dato’ Kwan Siew Deeg
Director Director
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

26(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

26(b) Movements of reserves of the Company

Share 
premium

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
(Note 27(a)) (Note 27(c))

Year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022 109,572 (177) (2,578) 106,817     

Loss for the year – – (12,389) (12,389)     

Other comprehensive income
Item that will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of 

the Company’s financial statements 
to presentation currency – 6,331 – 6,331     

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year – 6,331 (12,389) (6,058)     

At 31 December 2022 109,572 6,154 (14,967) 100,759     
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

26(b) Movements of reserves of the Company (Continued)

Share 
premium

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
(Note 27(a)) (Note 27(c))

Year ended 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023 109,572 6,154 (14,967) 100,759     

Loss for the year – – (7,723) (7,723)     

Other comprehensive income
Item that will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of 

the Company’s financial statements 
to presentation currency – 4,825 – 4,825     

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year – 4,825 (7,723) (2,898)     

At 31 December 2023 109,572 10,979 (22,690) 97,861     

27. RESERVES

27(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from issuance of the Company’s shares over its 
par value. Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association, it is distributable 
to the Company’s shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the 
ordinary course of business.

27(b) Capital reserve

Capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate amount of the paid-up share capital of the entities now 
comprising the Group before completion of the reorganisation less consideration paid to acquire the relevant 
interests (if any) in relation to the reorganisation for the Listing.

27(c) Exchange reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign 
operations and/or translation of Company’s financial statements into presentation currency.



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

28. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the 
following major non-cash transactions:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into lease arrangements in respect of 
right-of-use assets with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of approximately 
RM6,118,000 (2022: RM85,157,000).

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group incurred payables of approximately 
RM5,100,000 (2022: RM11,004,000) to the constructors for the addition of property, plant and 
equipment.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group utilised the deposits paid for acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment of approximately RM59,200,000 (2022: RM4,361,000) for the addition 
of property, plant and equipment.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The movements during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 in the Group’s liabilities arising from 
financing activities are as follows:

Non-cash changes 

At 
1 January 

2023
Net cash 

flows

Additions to 
property, 
plant and 

equipment 
Gain on lease

modification

At
31 December

2023
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Year ended 31 December 2023
Interest-bearing borrowings 83,120 44,966 – – 128,086
Lease liabilities 105,637 (22,523) 6,118 (9) 89,223      

188,757 22,440 6,118 (9) 217,309      

Non-cash changes 

At 
1 January 

2022
Net cash 

flows

Additions to 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Early 
termination 

of a lease

At 
31 December 

2022
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Year ended 31 December 2022
Interest-bearing borrowings 45,687 37,433 – – 83,120
Lease liabilities 38,975 (17,648) 85,157 (847) 105,637      

84,662 19,785 85,157 (847) 188,757      
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29. RELATED/CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group 
had the following related/connected party transactions during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

(a) Transactions between the group entities have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed. During 
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had the following significant transactions with 
related companies. In the opinion of the management of the Group, they are under normal commercial terms 
that are fair and reasonable and in the best interests of the Group.

2023 2022
Related party relationship Nature of transaction RM’000 RM’000

Related companies controlled  
by the director of certain 
subsidiaries of the Group

Logistics and related services costs 1,327 4,937

    

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel (including directors) of the Group:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kinds 3,897 3,552
Discretionary bonus 1,271 3,212
Contributions to defined contribution plans 192 222   

5,360 6,986   

Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of trade and other receivables, restricted bank balances, bank 
balances and cash, trade and other payables, bank overdrafts, interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities. 
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The Group generally adopts conservative strategies on its risk management and limits the Group’s 
exposure to these risks to a minimum level as follows:

Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the 
Group’s bank overdrafts and interest-bearing borrowings of approximately RM142,394,000 (2022: RM97,896,000) 
with floating interest rate. The Group currently does not have a policy to hedge against the interest rate risk as the 
management of the Group does not expect any significant interest rate risk at the end of each reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rate has been 1% (2022: 1%) higher/lower and all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s pre-tax results would decrease/increase by approximately RM1,424,000 (2022: 
RM979,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rate had occurred 
throughout the year and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the closing balance of bank 
overdrafts and interest-bearing borrowings in existence at the end of each reporting period. The stated changes 
represent management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the next twelve months 
after the end of reporting period.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent interest 
rate risk because the exposure at the end of each reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the years 
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in RM, HK$, SGD and US$.

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency of the respective group entities and therefore exposed to foreign currency risk. The carrying amounts of 
those financial assets and liabilities are analysed as follows:

Financial assets Financial liabilities  
2023 2022 2023 2022

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

HK$ 489 642 – 2,437
SGD 1,249 2,452 53 206
US$ 94,203 111,502 8,981 4,325
EURO 7,352 – 4,115 –     

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s pre-tax results if exchange rates of HK$, SGD 
and US$ had changed against the functional currencies of the respective group entities by 5% and all other 
variables were held constant at the end of each reporting period.

2023 2022  
Increase 

(decrease) 
in foreign 

exchange rates
Effect on 

pre-tax result

Increase 
(decrease) 

in foreign 
exchange rates

Effect on 
pre-tax results

RM’000 RM’000

HK$ 5% 24 5% (90)
(5%) (24) (5%) 90     

SGD 5% 60 5% 112
(5%) (60) (5%) (112)     

US$ 5% 4,261 5% 5,359
(5%) (4,261) (5%) (5,359)     

EURO 5% 162 5% –
(5%) (162) (5%) –     

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the changes in foreign exchange rates had occurred at 
the end of each reporting period and had been applied to the Group’s exposure to currency risk for financial 
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.



Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited ● Annual Report 2023 Annual Report 2023 ● Infinity Logistics and Transport Ventures Limited138

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates 
over the next twelve months after the end of each reporting period.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign 
currency risk because the exposure at the end of each reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the 
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that debtors will default on their obligations to repay the amounts due to the Group, 
resulting in a loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is mainly attributable to trade and other receivables, 
restricted bank balances and bank balances and cash. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by selecting the 
counterparties with reference to their past credit history and/or market reputation. The Group’s maximum exposure 
to the credit risk is summarised as follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Trade and other receivables 125,961 125,002
Restricted bank balances 40 40
Bank balances and cash 50,769 39,572   

176,770 164,614   

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who 
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk 
from trade receivables by establishing a maximum payment period of two months.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The 
default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a 
lesser extent. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating and individual credit limit 
assessment which is mainly based on the Group’s own trading records.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as approximately 7% (2022: 17%) of the total 
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest trade debtor, and approximately 22% (2022: 30%) of the total 
trade receivables was due from the Group’s five largest trade debtors, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of clients and the trade receivables are categorised by 
common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance 
with the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL of trade receivables and 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision matrix 
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and 
the economic environment. The expected loss rate used in the provision matrix is calculated for each category 
based on historical observed loss rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and adjusted for current and 
forward-looking factors to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the 
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s estimate on future economic conditions over 
the expected lives of the receivables.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the years ended 31 
December 2023 and 2022.

At the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables of by due date is as follow:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Not yet due 27,827 20,127   

Past due:
Within 30 days 19,890 17,754
31 to 90 days 13,714 12,849
Over 90 days 11,240 20,255   

44,844 50,858   

72,671 70,985

Less: Loss allowance (1,565) (1,400)   

71,106 69,585   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2023

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables using a provision matrix is as 
follows:

Expected 
loss rate

Gross carrying 
amounts

Loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amounts

% RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 31 December 2023

Not past due 1.56% 27,827 (435) 27,392
31 – 90 days past due 0.42% 33,604 (140) 33,464
Over 90 days past due 8.43% 11,194 (944) 10,250
Individually impaired 100% 46 (46) –     

72,671 (1,565) 71,106     

Expected 
loss rate

Gross carrying 
amounts

Loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amounts

% RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 31 December 2022

Not past due 0.03% 20,388 (6) 20,382
1 – 30 days past due 1.44% 17,754 (256) 17,498
31 – 90 days past due 1.32% 12,849 (146) 12,703
Over 90 days past due 4.63% 19,924 (922) 19,002
Individually impaired 100% 70 (70) –     

70,985 (1,400) 69,585     

Included in the loss allowance at 31 December 2023, was provision for doubtful debts for specific unsecured trade 
receivables with balances of approximately RM46,000 (2022: RM70,000), which the debtors have no recent 
business relationship with the Group and the Group expects the outstanding amounts could not be recovered in a 
foreseeable future.

The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is as follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 1,400 478
Provision for loss allowance 165 922   

At the end of the reporting period 1,565 1,400   

At 31 December 2023, the increase in average loss rate resulted in a provision of loss allowance. At 31 December 
2022, the decrease in average loss rate resulted in a reversal in loss allowance.

Other receivables

The management of the Group considers that the other receivables, including deposits paid, payments made on 
behalf of a customer in respect of 4PL services and other receivables, have low credit risk based on its strong 
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other 
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. In estimating the ECL, 
the management of the Group has taken into account the historical actual credit loss experience over the past years 
and the financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors 
and general economic conditions of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in estimating the probability of 
default of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. The management of the Group 
considers the ECL of other receivables to be insignificant after taking into account the financial position and credit 
quality of the counterparties.

Restricted bank balances and bank balances and cash

The management of the Group considers the credit risk in respect of restricted bank balances and bank balances 
and cash is minimal because the counterparties are authorised financial institutions with high credit ratings.
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Year ended 31 December 2023

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. The Group has no 
specific policy for managing its liquidity. The undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the Group’s financial 
liabilities at the end of each reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is summarised 
below:

Total 
carrying 
amounts

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flows

Less than 
1 year or 

on demand 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 31 December 2023
Trade and other payables 78,249 78,249 78,249 – – –
Bank overdrafts 14,308 14,308 14,308 – – –
Interest-bearing borrowings 128,066 142,395 37,701 – 61,930 42,764
Lease liabilities 89,223 183,866 19,526 8,902 15,578 139,860       

309,866 418,818 149,784 8,902 77,508 182,623       

At 31 December 2022
Trade and other payables 50,888 50,888 50,888 – – –
Bank overdrafts 14,776 14,776 14,776 – – –
Interest-bearing borrowings 83,120 98,472 13,797 13,082 33,311 38,282
Lease liabilities 105,637 206,316 23,504 17,045 18,375 147,392       

254,421 370,452 102,965 30,127 51,686 185,674       

Fair value

All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values at 31 
December 2023 and 2022.
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31. COMMITMENTS

(a) Lease commitments

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out its warehouses under operating leases with average lease terms of 2 years (2022: 
average lease terms of 2 years and with options to renew the leases upon expiry at new terms) for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable operating 
leases are as follows:

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Within one year 2,619 2,291
Over one year but within two years 1,716 1,265
Over two years but within three years 2,047 2,253   

6,382 5,809   

The unguaranteed residual value risk from the Group’s warehouses under operating lease is not significant, 
as the warehouses located in a location with a constant increase in value over prior years.

(b) Capital expenditure commitments

2023 2022
RM’000 RM’000

Contracted but not provided for acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment - 7,801   

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments, 
including payment of dividend to equity owners, call for additional capital from equity owners or sale of assets to 
reduce debts. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 
2023 and 2022.

33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no subsequent events affecting the Group which have occurred after the end of the reporting period and 
up to the date of this annual report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years.

RESULTS

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023
(RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000)

Revenue 209,432 223,669 275,561 356,870 371,105      

Profit before tax 25,058 30,968 48,666 33,873 24,515
Income tax (expenses) credit (5,578) (5,859) (6,150) 2,009 (6,136)      

Profit for the year 19,480 25,109 42,516 35,882 18,379      

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 19,480 25,109 42,516 36,018 18,391
Non-controlling interests – – – (136) (12)      

19,480 25,109 42,516 35,882 18,379      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023
(RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000) (RM’000)

Total assets 218,108 296,863 413,034 562,914 654,186
Total liabilities 134,811 122,979 147,535 254,601 314,511      

83,297 173,884 265,499 308,313 339,675      

Equity attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 83,297 173,884 265,499 308,191 334,260
Non-controlling interests – – – 122 5,415      

83,297 173,884 265,499 308,313 339,675      
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